ABSTRACT

Interview and Test Procedures that Affect the Confidence/Accuracy Relation in Eyewitness Memory for Product Identification

Amanda E. Holmes, Ph.D.

Mentor: Charles A. Weaver III, Ph.D.

The study of eyewitness memory thus far has focused on situations involving identification of a suspect that has allegedly committed a crime. The present research concerns eyewitness identification of products an individual may have encountered in the past that has supposedly caused them personal harm. The interview tactics used in pretrial preparation and a plaintiff's level of involvement with a particular product may affect the confidence/accuracy relation in claimants' product brand identification. Subjects packed various products into care packages and were tested on the brands of products they remember encountering either 10 minutes or 1 week earlier. Subjects provided confirmatory feedback for incorrect responses were more confident at both delay conditions. Subjects were also more confident in incorrect, falsely confirmed responses on target-present surveys than on target-absent surveys. Allowing subjects to select products for inclusion in the care package resulted in higher accuracy, confidence, and G scores as opposed to subjects who were provided products. However, asking subjects to justify their product selection at test did not alter accuracy, confidence, or G

scores. Applications of the findings to civil cases involving eyewitness identification of product brand identification are discussed.

Interview and Test Procedures that Affect the Confidence/Accuracy Relation in Eyewitness Memory for Product Identification

by

Amanda E. Holmes, B.S., M.A.

A Dissertation

Approved by the Department of Psychology and Neuroscience

Jaime L. Diaz-Granados, Ph.D., Chairperson

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of Baylor University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Approved by the Dissertation Com	mittee
Charles A. Weaver III, Ph.D., Chai	rperson
Roger E. Kirk, Ph.D.	
James H. Patton, Ph.D.	
Matthew S. Stanford, Ph.D.	
James A. Marcum, Ph.D.	·

Accepted by the Graduate School May 2010

J. Larry Lyon, Ph.D., Dean

TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of Tables		vi
Acknowledgm	nents	vii
Chapter One		1
Introdu	uction	1
Chapter Two		6
Costs a	and Consequences of Asbestos Litigation	6
	Asbestos was Largely Manufactured and Used Over 30 Years Ago	6
	Asbestos Litigation has Changed in Recent Years	8
	The Growth of Asbestos Litigation can be Traced to a Few Important Factors	10
	Asbestos Litigation has Spread to Defendants throughout Most Sectors of American Industry	11
	The Nature of Recent Claimants' Asbestos-Related Injuries Has Also Changed	13
	Financial and Personal Costs of Asbestos Litigation Have Risen Of Late	15
	Estimates of the Future Costs of Asbestos Litigation Are in the Billions	16
	Asbestos Litigation is Unique	17
Chapter Three		20
Legal S	System Procedures Impel Research on Eyewitness Memory	20
	Memories Are Not Perfect Records of Past Events	21
	Evidence that Eyewitness Memory May Be Fallible	22
	Witness Confidence and Accuracy is Subject to Influence	24

	Interview Procedures Can Influence Plaintiff Testimony	30
	Post-Identification Confirmatory Feedback Can Affect Eyewitness Confidence	31
	The Effects of Confirmatory Feedback and Delay on Witness Confidence	33
	The Level of Plaintiff Involvement with Products Varies	36
	Witnesses' Level of Event Involvement May Affect Identification Accuracy	37
	Eyewitness Events in the Current Studies Differ from Those Previously Studied	39
Chapter Four		43
	matory Feedback Effects on Retrospective Confidence for Product fication	43
	Experiment 1	43
	Experiment 2	47
Chapter Five		52
Produc Relatio	ct Involvement Effects on the Confidence/Accuracy (C/A) onship	52
	Experiment 3	52
	Experiment 4	56
Chapter Six		59
Conclu	asion	59
Appendix A Appendix B Appendix C Appendix D		66 67 68 71
References		74

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1:	Assembly Station Product Brand Selections, Experiment 3	54
Table 2:	Mean Within-Subject Accuracy, Confidence, and G Across Selection	
	Conditions, Experiment 3	55
Table 3.	Mean Within-Subject Accuracy, Confidence, and G Across Justification	
	Conditions, Experiment 4	58

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Thanks to Baylor University's Department of Psychology and Neuroscience for affording me the opportunity to work with colleagues who are both professionally accomplished and outstanding people. Having earned my Bachelor of Science, Master of Arts, and now Doctor of Philosophy degrees in the same department has resulted in what I hope are life-long collaborations and friendships with the professors who have guided my academic career the past 11 years. I appreciate the suggestions of my dissertation committee, Dr. Kirk, Dr. Patton, Dr. Stanford, and Dr. Marcum. Thanks also to the Department Chair, Dr. Diaz-Granados and to my undergraduate academic advisor, Dr. Achor. I most appreciate the advice, support, and kindness of my faculty advisor, Dr. Charles A. Weaver, III.

CHAPTER ONE

Introduction

For over 20 years, the American civil justice system has dealt with the longest running mass tort litigation in history–personal injury lawsuits brought by claimants exposed to asbestos, a known carcinogen. Claims are based on the premise that the dangers of inhaling asbestos dust were known long before individuals working with the mineral were informed. When claimants filing suit against asbestos companies retain counsel, they are required to identify which manufacturers' brands of asbestos-containing product may have been present in their workplace before the early 1970s. Because OSHA standards for asbestos exposure were put in place about 30 years ago, and the latency period for asbestos-related cancer is often 20 years or longer, plaintiffs must identify asbestos-containing products they worked with decades ago. In the landmark study investigating the effects of time on memory performance, Ebbinghaus (1885/1913), concluded that forgetting of previously encoded information occurred very rapidlywithin hours. Three-quarters of originally encoded material was forgotten by the end of 6 days, followed by a slower rate of forgetting that persisted over an indefinitely long period of time. These findings have since been replicated using longer retention intervals and more relevant encoding material (Bahrick, 1971, 1991). The rate of decay depends on the type, function, and perceived relevance of the material in question (Wickens, 1999), but one may reasonably presume that a period of decades might contribute to at least some decline in memory performance.

This renders the product-identification reporting process highly vulnerable to manipulation, particularly with billions of dollars at stake in asbestos litigation. Some attorneys and their assistants have admitted to coaching claimants in preparing their depositions, encouraging and guiding their memory retrieval to reflect encounters with products of companies who have not yet filed for bankruptcy (Brickman, 2004). One guideline for doing so encouraged the claimant to assert that, even when there is no record of what products were used on a particular jobsite, "You will be required [to] do all this from memory. . .the best way to respond. . .is 'Yes, I am SURE I saw it there!' or 'I KNOW it was that brand because I saw the name on the container'" (Olson, 1998, p. 2).

The justice system places—perhaps undue—importance on the common sense of individuals in the general population when determining the accuracy of an eyewitness account (Yarmey, 2001). Jurors tend to accept a witness' testimony based on its plausibility within the circumstances involved in a case, and evaluate it based on their knowledge and life experience. One study suggests that attorneys, judges, and jurors do not have easy access to eyewitness research findings, requiring them to rely upon their common sense and intuition in deciding the accuracy of an eyewitness account (Schmechel, O'Toole, Easterly, & Loftus, 2006). However, there is a large body of empirical evidence indicating the fallibility of eyewitness memory (Loftus, 1996). In order for jurors to assess the accuracy of an eyewitness account, they need to understand memory's complexity and malleability (Schmechel et al., 2006). A survey of eyewitness experts found that most would testify that the wording of retrieval questions, presentation of retrieval cues, exposure time to the encoded material, and the hypnotic suggestibility,

attitudes, and expectation of an eyewitness affect the reliability of eyewitness testimony (Kassin, Tubb, Hosch, & Memon, 2001). In addition, judges and jurors rely heavily on the confidence expressed by an eyewitness in determining the likelihood that the eyewitness is accurately reporting event details (Keogh & Markham, 1998). However, countless studies that focus on forensic application of the confidence/accuracy relationship conclude that confidence is a poor indicator of eyewitness accuracy (Penrod & Cutler, 1995). Even though confidence is commonly thought to be an indicator of eyewitness credibility, it is susceptible to distortion by social factors the justice system often overlooks, including post-identification feedback (Dixon & Memon, 2005).

In the laboratory, confidence in the accuracy of one's eyewitness testimony can be influenced by numerous encoding and retrieval conditions. Confidence can be manipulated during the product-identification process by interviewer feedback, particularly that which at least encourages—and at most, outright confirms—the individual's choice. Post-identification feedback effects inflate witness confidence, especially when the witness is incorrect (Bradfield, Wells, & Olson, 2002). Particularly in asbestos cases, corroborating evidence such as purchase receipts and work orders are not available many years after the fact, and the veracity of claimants' testimony cannot be determined. Therefore, in the absence of external corroborating evidence, a witness' confidence becomes particularly important. Given that confidence tends to be a poor indication of accuracy, and that interviewer-controlled factors such as feedback exert predictable effects on confidence especially when accuracy is poor, juries are forced to ascertain witness accuracy based on confidence, an unreliable and highly malleable aspect of witness testimony.

Early suits were brought by those suffering from cancer caused almost exclusively by working directly with asbestos. More recent claims have been filed by non-impaired individuals who did not work with asbestos, but were in the vicinity of those who were handling it. This is arguably the most important change in the state of asbestos litigation of late—that, between 1997 and 2000, the number of non-malignant claims grew to three times that of mesothelioma claims (Hensler, Carroll, White, & Gross, 2001). This phenomenon is due to the recent explosion of claims involving secondary, or premises, defendants.

Premises liability is a supposed failure of a building owner or tenant to maintain their premises in a safe condition (Brennan, 2003). Asbestos suits that name premises defendants claim that asbestos was present in products used during operations on-site or was merely present in the materials that comprised the building itself which the plaintiff occupied for some amount of time. One recent suit was brought against 73 defendants, 35 of which were operators and contractors who did not work with asbestos or asbestoscontaining products directly (Warren, 2003). In another suit, the daughter of a man suffering from mesothelioma testified that her father sent her to the hardware store with shopping lists of products for a home-improvement project that occurred 30 years ago (Hampel, 2005). She recalled the joint compound brands Bondex and Georgia-Pacific from the shopping lists, but did not recall any of the brands of other products he used in the project, such as the drywall tape and paint. However, her father had already testified he had never used Georgia-Pacific products and the hardware store where she bought the joint compound never carried the Georgia-Pacific brand. Inconsistency between the testimonies of two individuals, both of whom encountered the same product during the

same exposure episode, demonstrates the need for evidence concerning encoding conditions that affect subsequent identification.

The vast majority of eyewitness memory studies have investigated eyewitness testimony following some criminal event. Research investigating eyewitness identification of products individuals have encountered in the past is relatively rare. Given the enormous costs of product liability lawsuits against manufacturers that have long-since stopped producing asbestos-containing products, the investigator believes more empirical evidence is needed concerning the unique case of product-identification testimony reported many years after exposure. The following studies investigated whether witness confidence reliably indicates accuracy for product brand identification similar to that given in civil testimony.

CHAPTER TWO

Costs and Consequences of Asbestos Litigation

Asbestos was Largely Manufactured and Used Over 30 Years Ago

Asbestos is a silicate material with a crystalline structure that forms on rock in sheets of distinct fiber units 25 nanometers in diameter (Virta, 2002). Mined aggregate fibers .1 – 100 micrometers in diameter and 1 centimeter long have been used since World War II in construction for fire protection, reinforcement, and insulation, in the textile and paper industries for thermal and electrical insulation and in friction products like brake pads, in plastics, rubber, coatings, sealants, adhesives, and asphalt road surfacing (Virta, 2002). According to the U.S. Geological Survey, yearly consumption of asbestos between 1948 and 1973 was 613,000 to 803,000 metric tons (USGS, 2007).

The earliest—and still most widely accepted—estimate of the total number of individuals exposed to carcinogenic levels of asbestos between 1940 and 1979 is 27.5 million (Nicholson, Perkel, & Selikoff, 1982). Selikoff, Churg, & Hammond (1964) explored the causes of death among 1522 members of the Asbetsos Workers Union in New York and Newark, NJ from 1943 until 1962. The study found that the rate of death attributed to lung cancer was 6 times that predicted for the general male population. Another study of 21,000 asbestos workers' deaths from 1948 until 1963 found that asbestosis was the primary cause for 1/1000 deaths of workers in asbestos building products, 4/1000 deaths of those in asbestos friction materials, and 13/1000 deaths in asbestos textile material manufacturing (Enterline & Kendrick, 1967).

The risk of contracting asbestos-related pulmonary disease peaks at 20 years following the initial exposure to asbestos (Selikoff, Churg, & Hammond, 1965).

Mesothelioma is the result of direct physical contact of asbestos fibers at the interface between lung and mesothelial tissue, which induces cycles of cell death and re-growth that in turn trigger tumor-suppression gene silencing (Christensen, Godleski, Marsit, et al., 2008). A study of 128 patients with mesothelioma found that mortality is dose-dependent upon the quantities of asbestos found in patients' lung tissue at autopsy (Christensen, Godleski, Roelofs, et al., 2008). The decades-long latency period of mesothelioma gives altered cell groups enough time to eventually develop into malignancy. Therefore, workers exposed to asbestos before the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970 was enacted discovered that they had the worst form of asbestos-related disease as recently as the 1980s and 1990s.

The Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970 established the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, a regulatory agency that sets standards for safe working practices, enforces safe working parameters, and provides research towards advancements in the occupational safety field. The standard limits for safe asbestos exposure was first determined in the 1971 as part of the Federal Rule for the Emergency Standard for Asbestos Dust (1971) set a safe dosage standard of .1 fiber/cm³ of air in the immediate environment of a worksite. Since then, 43 federal registers and 36 standard interpretations have been enacted as part of the Occupational Safety and Health Administration final rules for asbestos exposure. However, the standards were set too late for the 27.5 million individuals who worked with asbestos prior to 1970. This, in light of the alleged asbestos product manufacturers'

knowledge of the dangers of working with the substance, has since led to over 650,000 personal injury claims filed against 8,400 different companies in at least 75 different industries (Carroll et al., 2005) in what has been described as the largest and longest-running mass tort in U.S. history.

Asbestos Litigation has Changed in Recent Years

The first asbestos claim set the precedent for modern mass tort litigation. It was filed in 1973 by Clarence Borel, an asbestos insulation worker between 1936 and 1969, against Fibreboard Paper Products Corporation (Borel v. Fibreboard, 1973). Mr. Borel was diagnosed with pulmonary asbestosis on January 19, 1969 and filed suit on October 20, 1969 against 11 different asbestos insulation manufacturers, among them Fibreboard and another manufacturer of asbestos-containing products, Johns-Manville. According to Mr. Borel, "I blowed this dust out of my nostrils by handfuls at the end of the day," noting that he and his fellow workers thought "that the dust dissolves as it hits your lungs," and testified that "yes, I knew the dust was bad but we used to talk [about] it among the insulators. . .how bad was this dust, could it give you TB, . . . and everyone was saying no, that dust don't hurt you, it dissolves as it hits your lungs." At his deposition he was asked, "then you did know it had some degree of danger but you didn't know how dangerous it was?" Mr. Borel responded, "I knew I was working with insulation," but when asked if he knew it contained asbestos, he replied, "yes, sir, but I didn't know what asbestos was . . . if I had known [how dangerous it was] I would have gotten out of it" (Borel v. Fibreboard, 1973, p. 3). The claim held 11 defendants responsible for the gross negligence of failing to warn the workers of the danger to which they were exposed while working with the products, failure to inform the workers of

appropriate equipment and practices that would have protected them from asbestos exposure, and failure to ascertain the dangers of asbestos products and to remove them from the market once the danger was determined (*Borel v. Fibreboard*, 1973). The defendants countered that the danger was obvious but that it was the responsibility of the purchasers to warn the ultimate users (asbestos product installers, such as Mr. Borel) of the dangers of the products, not the manufacturers themselves. On September 10, 1973, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit ruled that the product manufacturers were liable for the failure to warn the claimant of the gravity of the dangers of working with asbestos insulation and affirmed the original trial court's damages in the amount of \$70,000 to be awarded to Mr. Borel's widow. Clarence Borel died of asbestos-related pulmonary disease in 1972.

Since then, the number of asbestos cases has exploded, due to a number of factors that have evolved slowly over the last two decades. The precise number of claims filed is not readily available, but one indicator of the recent trends in asbestos case filing is found in the data reported by the Manville Personal Injury Settlement Trust. The trust's 4th quarter claims filing summary reports that between 1997 and 1999, between 25,000 and 30,000 claims were filed against the Manville Trust. In 2000, the number of claims doubled to 60,000 and in 2001, over 90,000 claims were filed—against the Manville Trust alone.

The estimated total cost of asbestos litigation through 2002 is \$70 billion, a sum that is projected to climb to \$120 to \$150 billion over the next 50 years (Congressional Budget Office, 2005). Tort litigation costs totaled 2.2 percent of the GDP in 2003 – or \$866 per American citizen (Tillinghast, 2005). Lawsuits against companies are not

exclusively filed by patients of actively malignant diseases—up to 90 percent of claimants in recent cases are functionally unimpaired (Carroll et al., 2005). Efforts began in 2003 to curb the momentum of new cases filed, after 100,000 cases were filed that year alone (American Academy of Actuaries Mass Torts Subcommittee, 2006).

The Growth of Asbestos Litigation can be Traced to a Few Important Factors McGovern (2002) proposes three different models of procedural law that attempt to explain the growth of asbestos litigation in terms of plaintiffs' and counsels' propensity to sue. Under the traditional model, law firms will conduct preliminary economic evaluation when deciding to pursue a case, based on the probability of return and the amount of expected return should they win the case. In the single-defendant mass tort model, multiple plaintiffs are named and the per-claimant cost to counsel decreases as the sheer volume of claims and cases overwhelms defendants, and cases are usually settled quickly with low settlement offers. In the multiple-defendant mass tort model, claims are filed against many defendants at a time, with little additional effort and cost over the single-defendant model, and expected returns increase exponentially. Under this model, the per-claim cost decreases dramatically as the preparation for each claim is virtually identical for each defendant. Most recent asbestos cases resemble the multipledefendant mass tort model, and as a result, asbestos litigation has grown by orders of magnitude since the first cases were filed in the early 1970s.

Some say the standard of proof that burdens those filing suit against asbestos manufacturers have become lax. Factors in substantive law regarding exposure and procedural law concerning aggregation and plaintiff class certification may have also led to the recent growth of asbestos litigation (McGovern, 2002). In *Jenkins v. Raymark*

(1986) the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit determined that the difference in circumstances involved in separate trials naming the same class of plaintiffs and defendants would overshadow the needs of the common class. The court affirmed the trial court's certification of a nationwide asbestos mass tort class, which set the precedent that many say opened the flood gate for cases filed in the late 1990s and early 2000s.

Case aggregation has also contributed to the recent increase in asbestos cases. Aggregating cases naming a common plaintiff class against a number of defendants forces the defendants to settle on cases for claimants named in the class that would not have been awarded compensation had the case been tried on its own (Brickman, 2001). In *Szabo v. Bridgeport Mach., Inc* (2001), the judges stated that one asbestos class' certification would "turn a \$200,000 dispute. . . into a \$200 million dispute. . . . and may induce a substantial settlement even if the customer's position is weak" (¶ 9). Nevertheless, many current cases are still aggregated, given that the alternative would involve, according to one judge, "days of the same witnesses, exhibits, and issues from trial to trial," therefore tying up the judicial system even more than it already is (*Jenkins v. Raymark*, 1986, ¶16).

Asbestos Litigation has Spread to Defendants throughout Most Sectors of American Industry

At first, asbestos litigation focused on industries in which workers were exposed to high levels of asbestos through repeated, direct contact with asbestos laden products. These industries included primary manufacturing of asbestos products such as friction materials, pipe, textiles, roofing and insulating materials, secondary manufacturing of products such as heaters, boilers, furnaces, ovens, and electrical appliances, shipbuilding,

and construction (Nicholson, Perkel, & Selikoff, 1982). Recently, however, claims against non-traditional industries such as paper manufacturing, hospitality, retail, and food and beverage service have surfaced (Carroll et al., 2005). Employees of these peripheral industries hold that incidental exposure to asbestos in the occupational environment has caused them medical harm (Stiglitz, Orszag, & Orszag, 2006). For example, textile workers claim to have operated machines with gaskets that contained asbestos or in factories where the ventilation ducts contained asbestos (Carroll et al., 2002). Therefore, textile workers in those environments may have inhaled some amount of asbestos, but conceivably less than construction and shipyard workers in traditional asbestos industries.

Non-traditional claims rose 107% between 1999 and 2000 and 71% between 2000 and 2001, accounting for 60% of asbestos litigation expenses (Carroll et al., 2002, 2005). Wyckoff and McBride (2003) outlines a number of factors that can explain this phenomenon. In addition to mass tort class certification and multiple-defendant naming, these include an increase in compensation and settlement payouts and more frequent use of liability insurance to provide coverage for asbestos litigation. Traditional defendants in primary asbestos industries have largely turned to bankruptcy protection as a direct result of asbestos litigation. As a result, the nature of claims has changed, focusing on non-traditional industries that still have available funds and liability insurance to payout asbestos case settlements (Warren, 2003). "'It has very little to do with whether anybody knowingly did anything wrong,' says [WS] Bellows [Construction Corp.] Vice President Jim Stevens, 'It's more about who has deep pockets'" (Warren, 2003, p. B1).

Fishing for potential clients will also contribute to accelerating rates of the number of cases filed each year. Kazan (2003) describes mass mailing and screening techniques used by lawyers to fish for potential clients nationwide:

I received a mailing at my home. . . . the letter was addressed to me or 'current resident'. . . it sought sandblasters, shipyard workers, and railroad workers. . . . I called the '800' number to find out about my free screening. It turned out that the program was being conducted by a medical screening company headquartered in Pascagoula, Mississippi that works on contract for lawyers around the country. For-profit enterprises organize screenings, find cases, and sell them to the lawyers who sponsor the programs. (p. 4)

The Nature of Recent Claimants' Asbestos-Related Injuries Has Also Changed

Because the severity of asbestos-related disease depends on the dose of asbestos inhaled, non-traditional claims are now being filed by claimants with medical impairments that are far less severe than plaintiffs who worked in traditional industries (Carroll et al., 2002). Steven Kazan, a lawyer who exclusively represents plaintiffs with mesothelioma, told the New York Times, "The overwhelming majority of [recent] cases are brought by people who have no impairment whatsoever" (Berenson, 2002, p. A1). According to one estimate of the allocation of settlements against one defendant that is named on the majority of asbestos claims (who provided the information confidentially, as is customary where settlement amounts are concerned), 19% of settlement monies have been paid to claimants with some form of cancer related to asbestos exposure, 20% has been paid to claimants with mesothelioma, and the other 61% has been awarded to plaintiffs with non-malignant diseases (Hensler, Carroll, White, & Gross, 2001). Many of those now screened for medical impairments related to asbestos exposure held numerous jobs throughout their lifetime, including painting and sandblasting, with other, unique hazards to lung tissue, yet it is likely that asbestos defendants are now paying for

all occupational hazards to workers' lungs (Parloff, 2002). This is because asbestosis resembles over 130 other lung diseases, some of which are also caused by numerous toxic, airborne substances (Parloff, 2002).

Some lawyers representing unimpaired claimants say their clients deserve compensation even if they are not sick, claiming "Juries throughout the United States have said that these people deserve compensation. . .you really have to have faith in the jury system" (Berenson, 2002, p. A1). Hensler, Felstiner, Selvin, & Ebener (1985) interviewed jurors that decided to award four plaintiffs in a consolidated trial in eastern Texas \$1 million each, despite the fact that three plaintiffs were unimpaired and one was a patient with active asbestosis. The jury members thought that the three unimpaired plaintiffs deserved compensation because they would eventually become as ill as the one plaintiff with asbestosis. Evidence presented during the trial indicated the probability that the three unimpaired plaintiffs would develop an asbestos-related disease, but jurors treated the evidence as if the plaintiffs were already ill in determining the current case's award payout. This practice, as well as plaintiffs' and lawyers' desire to cash in on asbestos settlements before the defendants' money runs out, will ensure that asbestos litigation will go on for years to come, despite failed, recent legislative efforts to curb the ever-increasing number of claims filed the past few years. Stengel (2006) points out that until courts recognize that not all of the asbestos claims tried before them are valid, and that even impaired claimants may not be charging the responsible party, the asbestos litigation problem will worsen.

Efforts to reform state and federal laws through congressional legislation have failed. The Fairness in Asbestos Resolution Act of 2005 passed the House of

Representatives and was considered in the Senate, proposing establishment of the Office of Asbestos Disease Compensation within the Department of Labor. The Office would have compensated the pending 100,000 claims of those with asbestos-related malignancies and 1.5 million claims of those with other asbestos-related disorders (Holtz-Eakin, 2005). The Act would have established 9 levels of physical impairment caused by asbestos exposure, as well as a compensation system paid by the Asbestos Injury Claims Resolution Fund, which would graduate payouts according to the severity of the claimant's medical condition (Congressional Budget Office, 2005). All claims would have been decided upon within 90 days of initial filing, and attorneys could not have charged more than 2% of the award amount for representation (Cohen & Brooks, 2005). However, the Act failed in the Senate for numerous reasons, including corporate opposition and asbestos litigation lobbying against tort reform (Frank, 2006). Parties with political, judicial, financial, and academic interest in the matter agree that the issue of asbestos litigation is not going away any time soon, a dire predication given the untold costs associated with the problem to date.

Financial and Personal Costs of Asbestos Litigation Have Risen of Late

Asbestos litigation has cost an estimated \$70 billion to process over 730,000

claims through 2002 (Carroll, 2005). It is responsible for the bankruptcy of almost 80

companies, causing the loss of almost 60,000 jobs and \$25,000 to \$50,000 over the

course of a laid-off employee's lifetime earnings, as well as a widespread decline in the

creation of new industrial jobs as companies significantly reduce reinvestment (Stiglitz,

Orszag, & Orszag, 2002). Employee layoffs impose an enormous cost on the federal

government's budget resulting from lost income tax revenue and an increased utilization

of unemployment and need-based benefits such as Medicaid (Stiglitz et al., 2002). The individual workers in various industries have lost an average of \$8400 from their pensions due to asbestos settlements—an average 25% of the value of their 401(k) accounts—as the result of an incredible 92% decrease in one study's index of stock value for bankrupt companies. Beyond these effects on the federal government, companies' stock, and employees' pensions, one study suggests that tort costs overall may impact the very competitiveness of U.S. products in the international marketplace (Tillinghast, 2005).

The situation has also taken a toll on the industrial workers themselves. Law firms interested in capitalizing on the asbestos lawsuit frenzy advertised free medical screenings for asbestos-related diseases in union publications (Pendell, 2005). This led to alleged mass false-positive diagnoses reported by attorney-appointed doctors, who, one screening audit reports, were paid up to \$725,000 for their service, rewarded \$1500 for each positive diagnosis resulting in a paid claim, and—not surprisingly—had an average false-positive rate of 63% (Parloff, 2003). Falsely diagnosed industrial workers experienced undue diagnosis-related anxiety, unnecessary invasive procedures, and carcinogenic x-ray exposure (Pendell, 2005). All told, the human and economic losses incurred from what has been called the greatest occupational disaster in our nation's history are staggering.

Estimates of the Future Costs of Asbestos Litigation Are in the Billions

Projected costs of asbestos litigation in the future are no less bleak. Technical reports prepared by the RAND Institute for Civil Justice have reviewed numerous studies estimating the future of asbestos litigation. Estimates of the future costs of the problem

range between \$130 and \$195 billion and that only 25 to 75% of the total number of claims related to asbestos have been filed to date (Carroll, 2005). Stallard (2001) projected the number of future claims against the Manville Personal Injury trust. Using data from the Manville Trust itself, the National Center for Health Statistics and U.S. Census Bureau vital statistics, the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) Program data from the National Cancer Institute, and epidemiology data from the 1980s and 1990s, the study predicts that 462,095 claims will be filed between 2000 and 2049 against the Manville Trust alone. Academic and legal reviews of the matter all agree that this litigation will continue for at least another fifty years, and "lawyers can have a long and prosperous career in the field of asbestos litigation, assuming that Congress does not do something about it" (Kazan, 2003, p. 1). There are numerous reasons the problem is so resistant to resolution, among them:

. . .the class of people exposed is so enormous, the injuries so ill-defined, and the pool of potential defendants so bottomless. But the most vexing problem [is] that so many asbestos-related injuries will not occur for decades. How do you negotiate a settlement with plaintiffs who don't yet exist? (Parloff, 2002, p. 2)

Asbestos Litigation is Unique

Other mass torts have involved the tobacco industry, Agent Orange, and the fast food sector, but asbestos litigation is unique in that 8400 different defendants have been sued with enough money from insurance companies to keep the litigation going for decades (White, 2004). Other evidence supports this prediction. A possible reversal of the inability for plaintiff attorneys to apply what's known as *market share* doctrine to asbestos cases would make it even easier for claimants to identify any brand of asbestos-containing product, thereby receiving compensation from the entire market of asbestos

product manufacturers (Hensler, Feistiner, Selvin, & Ebener, 1985). While the number of mesothelioma cases is expected to drop over the next 50 years (Price, 1996) due to the decline in asbestos fiber use with the OSH Act of 1970 (Weill, Hughes, & Churg, 2004), the litigation will continue as predicted due to the number of claims naming non-traditional and premises defendants—and one other reason that has only been mentioned in the literature once thus far.

Attention will likely begin to shift from affected individuals in asbetsosmanufacturing trades to those in asbestos stripping and removal work. Frost, Harding, Darnton, McElvenny, and Morgan (2008) surveyed 52387 asbestos stripping, or abatement, workers in Great Britain who were employed in the field between 1971 and 2005. The causes of 985 deaths were examined, including 384 cancers, 115 lung cancers, and 23 cases of mesothelioma. The rates of death overall, as well as those attributed to larynx, lung, peritoneum, pleura, and kidney cancer, mesothelioma, circulatory, cerebrovascular, and respiratory disease, and asbestosis were significantly higher than those predicted for the general male population. The study found no difference in mortality rate between workers who used a wet or dry removal technique, nor those who wore a positive-pressure respirator mask and those who did not. Among the risk factors examined, including workers' smoking habits and the size of the enclosure in which they predominately worked, the only differences in mesothelioma incidence was found according to the age at which first exposure occurred and the length of time workers were exposed to asbestos. Fourteen cases of mesothelioma were the cause of death for workers who were first exposed to asbestos under 20 years of age, and 9 cases were documented for those first exposed in their twenties. No cases of mesothelioma were

reported for groups first exposed in their thirties, forties, or fifties. Mesothelioma incidence was also elevated if the length of exposure exceeded 20-30 years. Overall, mortality rates from all causes was about 40% higher if workers spent more than 40 hours per week stripping asbestos than if they spent 20 hours or less per week doing the same. These findings indicate that current asbestos abatement equipment and techniques are not sufficient to completely remove the risk of working with the substance. This, along with the personal and financial motivations of plaintiffs to sue even marginal defendants and the continued use of early precedents concerning traditional asbestos companies' failure to warn the public about the known dangers of working with asbestos in deciding more recent claims with completely different circumstances, will all contribute to the continuation of asbestos litigation for many years to come.

CHAPTER THREE

Legal System Procedures Impel Research on Eyewitness Memory

The earliest studies on the contributions of experimental psychology to courtroom testimony were conducted in the early 1900s at Harvard's newly-established applied psychology lab. In his 1908 work, *On the Witness Stand*, Munsterberg's description of psychological research development is still relevant a century later:

If experimental psychology is to enter into its period of practical service, it cannot be a question of simply using the ready-made results for ends which were not in view during the experiments. What is needed is to adjust research to the practical problems themselves, and thus, for instance, when education is in question, to start psychological experiments directly from educational problems. (p. 8-9)

The legal system is concerned with events that happened at various times in the past, and cognitive psychologists are frequently called in for consults regarding the nature of eyewitness memory and the conditions under which the eyewitness report was gathered (Read & Connolly, 2007). The following studies continue a line of investigation that began in 2002, when the principal investigator of Baylor University's memory and cognition lab was called to provide expert witness testimony concerning product brand identification in a product liability case in Texas. Since then, members of the lab have been concerned with identifying factors that contribute to inaccuracies in eyewitness memory for product identification. Through research like the following experiments, we can build upon expert testimony such as the notion that memory does not function like a video camera, encoding information perfectly and able to replay past events with perfect accuracy for an indefinite amount of time.

Memories Are Not Perfect Records of Past Events

Previous studies of memory in general indicate that memory encoding is a selective process, known to differ across individuals. A number of factors can affect encoding and subsequent retrieval of eyewitness memory, including an individual's personality (Paddock, Terrancova, Kwok, & Halpern, 2000; Ward & Loftus, 1985), level of anxiety and life stress (Pesta, Murphy, & Sanders, 2001), gender (Powers, Andriks, & Loftus, 1979), age (Ackil & Zaragoza, 1998), and the semantics involved with retrieval cues (Fruzzetti, Toland, Teller, & Loftus, 1992; Lane & Zaragoza, 1995; Loftus, 1974, 1975; Loftus & Palmer, 1974; Loftus & Zanni, 1975). Memory retrieval can be affected by neuropharmacological agents, hypnotic psychotherapeutic techniques, and guided imagery (Scheflin, Brown, Firscholz, & Caploe, 2002). The amount of time that has passed between encoding and retrieval is negatively correlated with accuracy and positively correlated with mistaken identification (Shapiro & Penrod, 1986). As such, memory can be described as a reconstructive process, vulnerable to errors that intrude during detail assimilation (Pollio & Foote, 1971). Most of the inaccuracy associated with memory is introduced during the reconstructive retrieval process, as an individual calls up memories of the original event (Bjork & Bjork, 1988). Finally, a mismatch between autobiographical focus and event facts can lead to inaccurate eyewitness memories when factual details were never encoded in the first place (Haber & Haber, 2000).

Encoding can be characterized in two distinct ways—intentional or incidental (Carmichael, Hogan, & Walter, 1932; Herman, Lawless, & Marshall, 1957). In memory research, subjects are directed to pay attention to some stimuli in an encoding condition. They know that the exposure task is part of an experimental paradigm and, aside from

subject-related nuisance variables such as motivation, attend to the encoding material, intentionally attending to it, learning it for use in some experimental task. On the other hand, incidental encoding occurs when material presented to subjects—for instance, during an eyewitness event about which subjects do not know they will be tested—is incidental with respect to the main events unfolding during the encoding event. That is, subjects are incidentally exposed to peripheral details that are not central to the main events of the encoding condition.

Intentional encoding leads to better memory performance than incidental encoding (Lampinen, Copeland, & Neuschatz, 2001; Migueles & Garcia-Bajos, 1999), most likely due to the effects of divided attention in the incidental condition (Reinitz, Morrissey, & Demb, 1994). However, eyewitness testimony outside the laboratory often involves reporting details about events that the witness experienced incidentally. Incidental encoding has been suggested as a more ecologically valid method for eyewitness research (Brewer & Williams, 2005). Accordingly, the current studies were interested in memory performance for incidental details (brand names of products) that are not central to the main encoding event (care package assembly). Subjects did not know that their memory for the brands of products would be tested, therefore providing a purely incidental encoding paradigm that closely resembles the product brand exposure of individuals in the real-world.

Evidence that Eyewitness Memory May Be Fallible

Eyewitness memory studies have described many factors that account for the possible inaccuracy of identifications made some time after the critical encoding event occurred. The variables manipulated in these studies fall into two distinct categories,

which were coined by Wells (1978): *estimator variables*, which are factors whose influence on eyewitness identification can only be estimated after the critical event has already occurred, and *system variables*, which are factors that are controlled by the justice system. Estimator variables describe features of the encoding situation itself, such as the severity of a criminal act. System variables describe retrieval conditions that can be manipulated by agents of the legal system, such as the amount of time between some critical eyewitness event and subsequent eyewitness identification. The following experiments manipulated both estimator and system variables. The effects of factors that cannot be controlled, like a plaintiff's level of involvement with a certain product, and those that can be controlled, such as the nature of interviewer feedback, on witness confidence for product brand identification was measured.

Besides the presence of interviewer feedback, another system variable under investigation is whether or not the target (correct answer) is present in an eyewitness identification lineup. When the target is absent from a simultaneous lineup, identifiers judge the relative similarity of each suspect in the lineup to the image they remember from the witnessed episode (Wells, 1984). That is, witnesses choose the "most correct" answer when the suspects—or answer choices, in our case—are presented in the lineup simultaneously. In civil cases, pre-trial preparation materials may or may not include the brand of product claimants actually encountered in the past. But, they may still feel pressured to make an identification based on financial or personal motivations. On the recognition task subjects in the present study will complete, the target product brand may or may not be present as an answer choice on the multiple choice survey. Presumably, civil suit claimants and subjects in the following studies will choose the most-correct

answer when the correct answer is absent from the product brand answer choice "lineup." Methods have been developed to eliminate the relative judgment criterion witnesses adopt when identifying suspects in target-absent lineups. Sequential presentation of suspects in a line up discourages comparison of the suspects to each other according to their similarity to whatever the witness remembers from the criminal event (Lindsay & Wells, 1985). Subjects were more accurate in target-present lineups and less likely to make a false identification in target-absent lineups when sequential presentation was used, compared to simultaneous presentation (Lindsay & Wells, 1985).

Estimator variables, such as delays between encoding and test, have not been extensively studied in eyewitness memory research for a number of reasons. It is costly, both in time and money, to relocate and retest witnesses and the effect of delay—by itself—on witness accuracy is predictable (Wells & Quinlivan, 2009). More interesting are the effects of events that occur during the retention interval between encoding and retrieval, such as interviewer feedback, and how those manipulated variables exert differential effects on the relationship between witness confidence and accuracy at various times following the critical encoding event.

Witness Confidence and Accuracy is Subject to Influence

Many early studies on the confidence/accuracy (CA) relationship concur that witness certainty is commonly thought to indicate witness credibility (reviewed in Wells, 1993). In fact, the perception of witness confidence has been shown to account for over 50% of the variance in measures of believability of witness identification (Wells, Lindsay, & Ferguson, 1979). Suggested criteria for ascertaining witness reliability were even described in *Neil v. Biggers* (1972). The defendant was convicted of rape after

being identified in a line-up that occurred seven months after the plaintiff's attack. The court believed that the plaintiff's view of the defendant, amount of attention paid to the event, plaintiff's elaboration in the suspect's description, the passage of time, and confidence were all indicative of witness reliability, even if the identification lineup was conducted using suggestive interview tactics. The case concludes that, based on the victim's testimony alone, the lower court ruling should stand because the plaintiff had "no doubt" her identification was correct because her assailant had a face, she claimed, "I don't think I could ever forget" (p. 409).

Witness who appear confident are less likely to contradict themselves, hedge questions, hesitate answering, and tend to speak in longer, more elaborate sentences (Leippe, Manion, & Romanczyk, 1992). The way testimony is reported has a greater impact on believability and persuasiveness than what witnesses actually communicate, especially if it is difficult to evaluate the tenability of the facts of the testimony (Leippe et al.). Jurors tend to rely on witness confidence to judge the accuracy of witness testimony, without taking into account better predictors of accuracy, such as retention interval (the time lapse between event and identification) and decision time in making the identification (Penrod & Cutler, 1995).

However, countless studies of the CA relationship for eyewitness testimony have shown that confidence is a poor indicator of accuracy (Lindsay, Wells, & Rumpel, 1981). The CA relationship depends on factors such as the conditions of witnessing, information encountered between the encoding event and identification, the tone of language used during the identification process, commonly held social stereotypes, and implicit beliefs about memory quality that persist in the general public (Leippe, 1980). Additionally,

briefing witnesses by asking them to rehearse answers to potential questions that would be asked in court was found to inflate confidence, but not accuracy (Wells, Ferguson, & Lindsay, 1981).

A recent review of eyewitness literature identifies more factors that have been shown to affect the CA relationship, including lineup manipulation, recognition versus recall retrieval tasks, biased instructions, and interviewer feedback (Krug, 2007). One regression analysis determining the relationship between eyewitness errors and confidence, response time, and line-up fairness shows that only response time and line-up fairness accounted for significant variation in accuracy (Smith, Lindsay, & Pryke, 2000). Further, confidence was weakly correlated with accuracy, but once response time was accounted for, confidence did not contribute any additional variance to accuracy on its own. One study found that interviewer pressure to report details about a staged eyewitness event increased the number of details reported by subjects, both accurate and inaccurate, but had no effect on subjects' ability to gauge the accuracy of the reported details (Winningham & Weaver, 2000). A review of 271 criminal cases tried in Sacramento, CA revealed that 55% of plaintiff witnesses were eager to guess an identification when encouraged to do so by the interviewer (Penrod, 2003). Finally, an early review of 43 studies of the CA relationship determined that predicting accuracy with expressed confidence varies as a function of the quality of encoding conditions which are rarely assessed in eyewitness identification—and recommends that the justice system cease relying on confidence as an indication of witness accuracy (Deffenbacher, 1980).

Confidence has also been proven a poor predictor of product brand identification accuracy. On both recall and recognition surveys, and after a 1 or 2 week delay following product exposure, one measure of the within-subject CA relationship, the Gamma correlation coefficient, was very low across both delay and survey task conditions (Krug & Weaver, 2005). A similar result was obtained when subjects in another product brand recognition study were either told the intent of the experimental product exposure (the intentional encoding condition) or not (incidental encoding condition), and were either tested 10 minutes or 1 week following product exposure (Terrell & Weaver, 2008). Accuracy in the incidental encoding condition fell to the rate of chance after a 1 week delay, while accuracy in the intentional encoding condition fell to 50% of that observed at 10 minutes. Subjects were well calibrated with respect to individual confidence in their responses at 10 minutes, but were overconfident across both encoding conditions after a week-long delay.

Evidence proving the accuracy of product identification witnesses—as in work orders and bills of sale—are often unavailable, especially in cases involving asbestos exposure with a long latency period between product use and disease manifestation (Weaver, Terrell, & Krug, 2004). Therefore, the absolute accuracy and reliability of witness' product brand identifications in these cases are rarely challenged (Weaver, Terrell, & Holmes, 2006). Eyewitness testimony protocols have, as yet, been largely unaffected by findings and recommendations of the field of forensic psychology—an alarming realization given the sheer volume of evidence indicating that eyewitness testimony is highly malleable by forces under the control of legal system personnel and courtroom triers-of-fact (Terrance, Thayer, & Kehn, 2006).

There are two distinct measures of the CA relationship (Nelson, 1996). Absolute calibration describes the relation between one's subjective confidence and absolute response accuracy on a task, expressed as a biased score. Relative calibration indicates the relation between one's confidence and relative response accuracy across multiple responses. One example of relative accuracy pertains to within-subject comparisons of the accuracy of one response compared to the accuracy of another response on the same survey. A measure of subject's relative calibration that quantified the association between the compared accuracy of two survey items and the compared confidence ratings of the same two survey items was calculated.

The best measure of witnesses' CA calibration—or how well witnesses gauge the accuracy of their memories—is, according to Nelson (1984), the Goodman-Kruskal gamma (*G*) correlation. A unit of measurement for *G* is comprised by a pair of observations taken from a subject. The *G* correlation indicates the measure of association between ordered data. Simply put, if one observation is incorrect, and a second observation is correct (indicating an increase in accuracy), does confidence also increase from the first observation to the second? If increased accuracy between two observations also corresponds to increased confidence between the same two observations, the pair of observations is concordant with respect to accuracy and confidence. Similarly, if decreased accuracy between two observations also corresponds to decreased confidence between the same two observations, the pair is concordant. If, in another case, increased accuracy between the two observations corresponds to decreased confidence in the observations, the pair of observations is discordant with respect to accuracy and

confidence. Likewise, a discordant pair of observations occurs if decreased accuracy between the two observations corresponds to increased confidence.

The ratio of the difference between a subject's concordant and discordant pairs of responses to the sum of the number of concordant and discordant pairs of observations for the subject gives a measure of association between the subject's accuracy and confidence, or the *G* score (Nelson, 1984). High rates of discordance between a subject's responses indicate poor CA calibration and results in a low value of the *G* score for that subject. By obtaining values of *G* for each subject within a particular group, we may identify conditions that lead to certain values of *G* across subjects.

A meta-analysis of previously-published data on CA calibration found that the population effect size of the CA relationship was r = .29, a medium effect as described by Cohen (1988) (Sporer, Penrod, Read, & Cutler, 1995). However, when the data pertaining to positive eyewitness identifications is separated from that for non-identifiers (or non-choosers), the relationship between confidence and accuracy differed, r = .37 for positive identifications and .12 in non-choosers. Therefore, it seems that moderating variables may contribute to differences in CA calibration across different conditions of encoding and retrieval.

The following studies identified factors that could be used to predict how likely witnesses are to be correct when they are confident in their responses. Finding patterns in CA calibration across various conditions would be significant, considering that the conditions of encoding and retrieval the studies attempt to mimic match those of tort liability cases that rarely involve corroborating evidence in discerning the absolute accuracy of witnesses' responses.

Interview Procedures Can Influence Plaintiff Testimony

When claimants filing suit against asbestos companies retain counsel, they are asked to identify which manufacturers' brands of asbestos-containing products may have been present in their workplace before the early 1970s. One former paralegal discloses the interview procedure her law firm used when asking clients about their previous exposure to certain product brands (Biederman, 1998). She states:

When you were talking with the guy, you would say, 'We know this product was there.' This is where you'd get them to implant false memories. We knew in many cases from insulators that certain products were on the job site. So you would say, 'Joe Smith says that Celotex was all over the place when they'd saw that thing in half.' They say, 'Oh yeah, I'd be under it.' You'd say, 'You know, it was Celotex they were cutting,' and they'd think, and they'd go, 'Yeah, yeah, it was Celotex.' (p. 2)

Another paralegal from the same law firm inadvertently distributed a copy of what is now called the Script Memo, which was a script paralegals would use in directing clients' testimony to include identification of product brands they may or may not have actually encountered (Brickman, 2004). Brickman (2004) also sums up numerous investigative reports indicating that paralegals also:

. . .instilled 'memories' into the minds of clients so they could 'recall' the products that were financially remunerative for them to name and 'not recall' the names of products that would have been financially counterproductive to identify. To assist in this process of creating 'memories,' paralegals showed clients pictures of the 'right' products, which were then listed on the Script Memo. Parties were then provided product details to study so that they could pass the 'test' that would be administered, i.e., a deposition, and obtain suitable financial rewards. (p. 142)

These practices lead clients to report past exposure to certain brands through encouragement and leading confirmatory feedback. Not only do clients believe they encountered certain products, but they may be coached into believing the same with a high degree of confidence. Claimants can then testify under oath confidently that they

were exposed to a certain product and their testimony can be treated as fact because corroborating evidence often does not even exist.

Post-Identification Confirmatory Feedback Can Affect Eyewitness Confidence

Research into the effects of confirmatory post-identification feedback on eyewitness memory has yielded insight into the mechanisms of confirming feedback on confidence in eyewitness identification. Memories can be thought of as an aspect of one's self whose quality is subject to one's own judgment and feelings. Those feelings can include the confidence with which one judges the accuracy of their memories, which can be influenced by knowledge of the quality of memory performance in the past (Shaw, McClure, & Wilkens, 2001). Information about the relative accuracy of one's memories compared with others' or the objective accuracy of memories against a set of correct responses shapes one's belief in the accuracy of their memories (Zimbardo & Leippe, 1991).

The effects of feedback on eyewitness identification itself began with Wells and Bradfield (1998). The study developed the post-identification feedback paradigm, in which subjects viewed surveillance video of an actual crime, and were asked to identify the perpetrator from a target-absent photo line-up. That is, all subject responses were incorrect. Then, one group received confirmatory feedback, while another did not. Their study coined the confirmatory feedback phrase almost universally employed by later studies, "Good, you identified the suspect" (p. 1). Both groups were then asked to rate various features of the witnessing and identification experience on a survey of questions, including confidence rating from 1 (not at all certain) to 7 (totally certain). The survey question concerning confidence was introduced to the field: "At the time that you

identified the person in the photo spread, how certain were you that the person you identified from the photos was the gunman that you saw in the video" (p. 366). The average certainty for the feedback group was 5.4, while that of the no-feedback group was 4.0. The average effect size in the differences in confidence and other measures of the witnessing experience between the feedback groups was d = .75, a large effect according to Cohen (1988).

A review of the eyewitness feedback literature that followed the study found an average Cohen's d effect size of .79 between eyewitnesses' confidence ratings following confirming feedback and that of subjects who not receive feedback (Douglass & Steblay, 2006). Confirming feedback also inflates the confidence of inaccurate witnesses more than accurate witnesses, suggesting that subjects are more susceptible to feedback if their response was incorrect to begin with (Allwood, Knutsson, & Granhag, 2006; Bradfield, Wells, & Olson, 2002). Subjects who received confirmatory feedback in another study repeated forcibly confabulated memory details with greater speed and confidence than subjects who did not receive feedback (Hanba & Zaragoza, 2007). In this study, confabulated memory details were elicited in response to survey questions concerning event details that were not present in the encoding condition. Confidence inflation in response to confirmatory feedback even occurs if subjects know, before the encoding event, that they will be identifying the suspect after viewing a crime scene (Douglass & Surrett, 2006). Identification accuracy in this intentional encoding condition was not higher than any other condition, but confidence was still inflated by confirmatory feedback. The same is observed if instructions are unbiased, indicating to subjects that the target—or actual perpetrator—may not be present in the line-up (Semmler, Brewer, & Wells, 2004). Even though these findings were the result of experiments conducted in the laboratory, the same results were found in a study of 134 real eyewitnesses identifying suspects in criminal cases in the United Kingdom (Wright & Skagerberg, 2007).

Fewer studies have investigated the effects of feedback given after some time has passed following an eyewitness event and suspect identification. The effect of delay on the CA relationship following feedback is especially relevant in the current proposal, given the long retention interval of asbestos case plaintiffs between encoding (product exposure), product brand identification (recall the Script Memo), interviewer feedback (paralegal coaching), and confidence rating in plaintiffs' prepared testimonies. Confirming feedback has been shown to inflate retrospective confidence compared to no feedback conditions even if it is given immediately following identification and confidence is rated 48 hours later, and if both feedback is given and confidence is assessed 48 hours following initial identification (Wells, Olson, & Charman, 2003). If subjects are told to be suspicious of the experimenter by an undercover research assistant posing as a fellow subject, namely that the experimenter is telling everyone that their identifications were correct, confidence inflation is eliminated between the confirming feedback and no feedback conditions at both immediate and delayed feedback/confidence rating conditions (Neuschatz et al., 2007). This confidence prophylactic effect occurs when confidence inflation can be prevented by some interviewer feedback manipulation.

The ability of eyewitnesses to discern the effect of feedback depends on whether or not the eyewitness was provided the feedback (Charman & Wells, 2008). Witnesses given confirmatory feedback consistently rated the influence of feedback on confidence

lower than those that did not receive feedback after identifying a suspect of a crime, even over a delay between identification and immediate feedback and, 48 hours later, retrospective confidence ratings (Charman & Wells, 2008). It seems that not only do subjects provided confirmatory feedback rate confidence higher than those provided no such feedback, but they also underestimate the influence of the confirming feedback on confidence in subject identification.

These studies investigated the effects of delay on confirmatory feedback effects on confidence, but found main effects of feedback itself, suspicion of experimenters' motives, and the influence of feedback across both delay conditions. None of the studies found a simple main effect of delay on these other factors concerning feedback and retrospective confidence for eyewitness identification. The studies involved delays of 48 hours between encoding and immediate identification and feedback administration/confidence assessment. None of the studies involved a delayed-identification condition, whereby the effects of confirmatory feedback on retrospective confidence could be assessed over a significant retention interval between some eyewitness event and identification.

The current studies are most concerned with eyewitness identification long after the witnessing event has occurred. In particular, the effects of confirmatory feedback, much like that employed in some law firms in preparing clients for product liability suits, on witness confidence will be assessed for product identifications made 1 week after incidental product exposure. It was expected that the effects of confirming feedback would inflate confidence for identifications made 1 week after the encoding event much more than that for identifications made immediately after encoding. Event details are

much less accessible after a delay between a witnessed event and identification, due to factors such as memory trace decay and interference from information and events individuals encounter in their daily lives during the retention interval. Therefore, the confirmatory post-identification feedback studies were expected to show that the effects of confirming subjects' delayed product brand identifications leads to inflated confidence compared to those who do not receive such feedback.

Feedback effects may be attributable to hindsight bias. Also known as the knewit-all-along effect, hindsight bias is the tendency for subjects, when asked to remember what their past response to a memory prompt was, to recall their (original, incorrect) response as closer to the correct response than their answer actually was after they are provided the correct answer (Pohl, 2007), or to underestimate the influence of the feedback in determining whether their response would have been correct without the feedback (Fischhoff, 1975). In one eyewitness study, estimator variables such as subjects' ratings of the amount of attention they paid to a criminal episode and the quality of the view they had of the suspect were inflated by confirmatory feedback, in addition to confidence (Wells & Bradfield, 1999). Because these variables describing attributes of the encoding condition were rated higher in the confirmatory feedback condition, along with confidence, Wells and Bradfield (1999) suggests that simple hindsight bias may not be the exclusive mechanism by which feedback affects response judgments. Selfperception theory may explain higher subject ratings of attention and other encoding conditions following confirming feedback. Self-perception theory holds that if internal cues are weak (such as certainty, view quality, attention, etc.), witnesses rely on identification context—including the presence of feedback—to infer those qualities

associated with the witnessing event (Bem, 1967). Thus, witnesses use feedback to infer identification qualities, like certainty, when other cues, like memory quality, are weak, due to decay and interference over a retention interval following encoding.

Wells and Seelau (1995) suggest that "no feedback should be given until a clear statement of confidence is taken" (p. 780). However, given the statements of paralegals who formerly interviewed clients in asbestos law suits, it is unlikely this advice is followed. The encoding and identification interview procedures employed in the following studies approximated the product exposure and identification process involved in asbestos litigation. The ultimate goal of the study is to provide scientific evidence to the civil justice system that witness confidence in delayed product identification is vulnerable to interviewer tactics similar to those allegedly practiced by law firms in preparing their clients for their depositions and that high confidence expressed by witnesses is not predictive of witness accuracy.

The Level of Plaintiff Involvement with Products Varies

Plaintiffs filing suit against asbestos-containing product manufacturers report varied levels of involvement with the products to which they were allegedly exposed years ago. Cases brought against product manufacturers by claimants who were merely on the premises of asbestos-containing product use are on the rise. There may be differences in eyewitness memory for product identification between individuals who report a higher level of involvement with certain products and those who were less involved with asbestos defendants' products.

For the purposes of this area of research, the actor/observer distinction in memory performance will operationally define the level of subjects' event involvement in

eyewitness studies. The following experiments were not designed to study the actor/observer bias itself, but the actor/observer bias most closely resembles the differences in the independent variable of product-exposure involvement. Therefore, given this approximation of this study's novel variable under investigation (product involvement), and a sizeable literature on the actor/observer bias in eyewitness memory, we reviewed previous findings concerning the same. The following studies compared witness accuracy and certainty between subjects who participated in a staged, criminal eyewitness event and those that merely observed the crime from afar.

Witnesses' Level of Event Involvement May Affect Identification Accuracy

The results of eyewitness memory actor/observer studies fall into two categories with conflicting outcomes. Actors' event memories are more accurate than observers' under some conditions, while observers are more accurate than participants in others. Witnesses in one staged theft situation that were personally victimized were more accurate in identifying the confederate thief than witnesses that were asked to identify the same confederate in a no theft, control condition (Hosch & Cooper, 1982). In addition, confidence, in this case, was unrelated to accuracy, with no significant difference in mean confidence ratings across theft conditions.

Police recruits in another study were either active participants in or witnesses to two video training exercises depicting criminal situations, one of which was stressful and the other non-stressful, indicated by the perpetrator shooting at the officer or not, respectively (Stanny & Johnson, 2000). There were no significant differences in event detail accuracy between active participants and witness observers across stress conditions. However, participants recalled more event details from the non-stressful

training video than the stressful training video. There were no such differences in the amount of event detail recalled by witness observers, indicating that stress negatively affected event detail recall for participants, but not observers.

Police recruits were also surveyed in another study after participating in or witnessing a stressful or non-stressful role play scenario in which participant officers investigated a citizen's complaint about a suspicious individual loitering in a parking lot (Yuille, Davies, Gibling, Marxsen, & Porter, 1994). Recruits were then asked for their recollection of details surrounding the scenario 1 week later and 12 weeks later. One week after the event, there was no difference between participants and observers in the amount of event detail recalled. Likewise, there was no difference in the accuracy of recalled details across involvement conditions, but, as in the previous study, participant and witness officers' recalled event details were more likely accurate in the non-stressful than the stressful event—in which the suspicious loiterer was uncooperative and belligerent to the officer. Twelve weeks after the original event, participant officers recalled significantly more event details than witness observers. These findings suggest that participants outperform witnesses on event recall after a very long retention interval.

In contrast, other studies have shown that observers are more accurate witnesses than victims of a staged theft (Kassin, 1984). In one study, a confederate research assistant stole victimized witnesses' wrist watches, while other witnesses observed the confederate stealing a laboratory calculator (Hosch, Leippe, Marchioni, & Cooper, 1984). All subjects were then interviewed by a detective, who presented photo line-ups with the biased instructions, "we believe the person who stole the (calculator/watches) is present in this photo spread," or the unbiased instructions, "The person who stole the

(calculator/watches) may be one of the five individuals in this photospread" (p. 283). Victimized witnesses were less accurate when they were interviewed with biased instructions, possibly due to the pressure to make an identification and the anxiety resulting from being personally victimized. Along the same lines, participants witnessing a staged robbery live reported less event details and were less accurate than witnesses of the same event on video (Ihlebaek, Love, Eilertsen, & Magnussen, 2003). Observer witnesses had a more detached involvement with the event, while participants witnessing it live were not able to observe the entire event as they were ordered to hand over money or to get down onto the floor. Participant witnesses' attention was focused on performing in the robbery event itself, and even though it was staged for experimentation, participants undoubtedly experienced some amount of stress during the event, interfering with their event memory accuracy.

In sum, the studies reviewed so far concerning the level of involvement of witnesses in some eyewitness event indicate that (1) stress exerts a deleterious effect on participant witness accuracy; (2) confidence was not related to accuracy; (3) there was no difference in witness accuracy between witness participants and observers, except when identification was made following a long retention interval (12 weeks) and if witness participants' attention was focused on participating in the eyewitness event rather than on event details.

Eyewitness Events in the Current Studies Differ from Those Previously Studied

Product brand identification and product exposure events are different in many
ways from suspect identification and criminal event witnessing. When claimants filing
law suits against asbestos defendants identify brands of products they were exposed to

many years ago, they are identifying a detail of some incidental exposure event that, most likely, was a benign, everyday occurrence that did not seem important at the time. Product exposures are not thought of as stressful events, unlike crimes that are emotionally-charged, stressful, distinctive events whose importance is probably not lost on the witness at the time it occurs. Further, suspect identification in a photo line-up is, for the average person, a distinctive event as well and carries its own set of stresses such as the desire to make an identification, the consequences if the identification is wrong, etc. We may also assume that claimants filing suit against asbestos defendants are also identifying products in a stressful environment, ill from asbestos exposure (but not in all cases), and subject to the tactics former paralegals have revealed that some plaintiffs' attorneys use in pressuring claimants to identify products they used many years ago.

These are important distinctions between criminal and civil eyewitness testimony.

Colby and Weaver (2006) investigated the effects of all the variables discussed thus far. No significant differences were found in product brand identification accuracy between actors that were mixing baking ingredients according to a recipe and bystanders that were merely observing the actors doing so. Subjects' responses in both witness conditions were less accurate and familiar-brand false alarm rates were higher after a 1 week delay following the encoding event (recipe mixing). Observer confidence was greater than actors' overall, but there was no difference in confidence within either witnessing condition after a delay. Baking experience was analyzed as a covariant, and was shown to increase confidence across all witnessing and delay conditions, but not accuracy. Given that factors have been shown to increase confidence independent of accuracy and vice-versa, particularly as witnesses' level of involvement in a witnessing

event varies, we may infer that confidence is not only a poor indicator of accuracy for eyewitnesses that have observed a particular event, but that it may also be an unreliable estimate of the credibility of witnesses that actively participated in the event themselves.

There has been no other research to date investigating the effect of witnesses' level of involvement and delay on the CA relationship of delayed product brand identification. In particular, the following studies took the previous study's actor/observer paradigm a step further and looked at the effects of witnesses' specific interaction with products on subsequent brand identification. The product brand exposure experience of different witnesses in these studies will approximate the difference between claimants in asbestos suits that actually worked with products and those that were merely on the premises of sites where asbestos-containing products were being used. If the following studies showed differences between witness accuracy and confidence among various manipulations of witnesses' encoding experiences, and those product exposure experiences are similar to those reported by claimants filing suit against non-traditional and premises defendants in asbestos litigation, the results may be used as evidence that witnesses that are less involved with a certain brand of product are also less credible than witnesses that are more involved with a certain brand of product, who may prove to be more reliable than the former group. One paralegal, under conditions of anonymity, disclosed procedures she says the law firm of Baron and Budd used to prepare claimants for their product liability deposition (Biederman, 1998). She sums up the impetus for this line of research well: "There was a man; he was some sort of contractor. He had absolutely no exposure to asbestos-none. There was nothing in his work history," and continues:

Overall, workers in asbestos plants and insulators 'really did know the products. . .but when you got the electricians, . . .carpenters, . . .and brick masons, they didn't work with the products that much. . .these clients needed aggressive coaching. (Biederman, 1998, p. 2)

CHAPTER FOUR

Confirmatory Feedback Effects on Retrospective Confidence for Product Identification

Experiment 1

The first experiment established the confirmatory feedback paradigm for product brand identification, testing whether or not feedback affects confidence for incorrect product identification responses over a delay. Subjects in the feedback condition were told "good, you got it right" before they completed a retrospective confidence survey. Subjects in the no-feedback condition did not receive the feedback statement, but did complete the confidence survey in the same manner as the feedback group. Subjects completed target-absent surveys either 10 minutes or 1 week after the encoding condition. The dependent variable of interest is confidence in the incorrect response, not accuracy, as all subject responses were incorrect, by design, on the target-absent identification survey.

Methods

Participants. One hundred seventy-six Baylor University undergraduate students volunteered their participation in the experiment, earning experimental participation credit for introductory psychology courses in return. All participants signed an informed consent for research participation and received a copy of the form for their records. The study was approved by Baylor's Institutional Review Board and met the American Psychological Association's standards for minimal risk to the well-being of subjects. At

the conclusion of each research session, subjects were debriefed with respect to the objective of the care package assembly activity.

Materials. Subjects handled an assortment of products during a care package assembly task that involved sealing a toiletry item, a hand-held electronic game, a deck of playing cards, and a small spiral notepad into several sandwich- and gallon-sized Ziploc bags. Then, using bubble wrap as space-filling material, subjects packed the items into a cardboard box however they chose to prepare the package for shipping. The clear Ziploc bags allowed additional product exposure while subjects packed the items into the box. The brand of the toiletry item was the critical detail under investigation—the game, cards, and notepad did not bear brand names and were only included to reinforce the care package experience. The toiletry item available to subjects was one out of six possible products: hand lotion, mouthwash, shampoo, soap, sunscreen, or toothpaste. These products were chosen for their non-gender biased packaging and intended use. Finally, subjects were given a product identification survey asking for their identification of the brand of toiletry product they included in the care package. It asked subjects for their Baylor student ID number, gender, age, whether or not they suspected the actual purpose of the encoding experience (knew about the survey beforehand), and included one 4alternative, target-absent, recognition question concerning the toiletry product's brand name (Appendix A). A second survey was administered asking subjects to rate their level of confidence in the product brand they identified from 0 to 100% in increments of 20% (Appendix B).

Procedure. Subjects entered a classroom in the Baylor Sciences Building and seated themselves at one of 5 care-package assembly stations set up around a large table in the center of the room. Subjects were given instructions on how to pack the care package, then assembled the toiletry item, game, cards, and notepad into a cardboard box, using bubble wrap to prepare the package for shipping. In the 10 minute condition subjects were then called, individually, into an adjacent conference room to complete the surveys. Subjects in the 1 week condition were dismissed for a week, completing the following steps at the same time in the same adjacent conference room 1 week later. Upon entering the conference room, subjects completed the product identification survey. Then the experimenter, after looking at the subject's answer on the survey, stated to subjects in the confirmatory feedback condition, "Good, you got it right!" Subjects in the no-feedback condition did not receive the feedback statement. All subjects then completed the retrospective confidence survey regarding their confidence in the brand they identified on the product identification survey.

Results

Subjects provided confirmatory feedback regarding their response on the identification survey reported higher levels of confidence in their (incorrect) response (M = 70.45, SEM = 3.40) than subjects who were not provided confirmatory feedback (M = 47.73, SEM = 3.40) across delay conditions [t(86) = 4.73, SE = .00]. Likewise, subjects provided confirmatory feedback reported higher levels of confidence than those who were not provided feedback within both the 10 minute condition [t(42) = 2.13, SE = .03] and the 1 week delay condition [t(42) = 5.03, SE = .00]. However, confidence did not differ between the delay conditions. An omnibus, 2×2 MANOVA test of the variability

between feedback and delay groups confirmed the descriptive statistics, in that a significant main effect of confirmatory feedback was found [F(1, 84) = 22.30, p < .05] but no effect on confidence was evident in the delay condition [F(1, 84) = .14; n.s.]. The interaction of feedback and delay conditions was also not significant. The value of Levene's test of the equality of error variances [F(3, 84) = 1.40, n.s.] allows us to fail to reject the null hypothesis that error variance is equal across groups. Therefore, the 2×2 MANOVA is reported under the assumption that the variance across groups is equal.

Discussion

In previous studies using the care package paradigm, subjects correctly identified the brands of products they included in the care package 70% of the time in both the 10 minute and 1 week delay groups (Holmes & Weaver, in press). However, the researchers were most interested in factors that influence confidence when subjects are wrong, so, subjects completed a target-absent survey, resulting in all incorrect product brand identifications. Confidence was expected to vary significantly between delay conditions, as previous studies have shown that confidence tends to increase over a retention interval. Interestingly, confidence was almost equal between delay conditions. So it would seem that subject's confidence in an incorrect response is not influenced by retention interval when the target is not present on the survey. Experiment 2 varied the target presence to test this finding. However, as expected, confidence in an incorrect response does vary according to the presence of confirmatory feedback, both within and between delay conditions.

Feedback effects increased over a delay. Given the week-long retention interval between care package assembly and test, information (such as the brand of product subjects included in the care package) could have been distorted or could have decayed altogether, indicating a weakening in the original memory trace of the encoding event. The self-perception theory posits that subjects use available context-specific information, such as confirming feedback, to infer the quality of their memory for events that happened in the past. That is, perhaps feedback influenced subjects' confidence ratings in the 1 week condition (Cohen's d = 1.61, a "large" effect size) more than the 10 minute condition (Cohen's d = .66, a "medium" effect size) because subjects' memories for the care package event in the delayed condition were weaker than those in the immediate condition, and delayed identifiers were more likely to base their confidence on the feedback.

Experiment 2

The second experiment tested whether the presence—or absence—of the target (correct) product brand in the choices given on the identification survey affected confidence for inaccurate responses over a week-long delay. The researchers were interested in determining whether the finding in Experiment 1 concerning the equal levels of confidence between delay conditions on a target-absent survey was due to the presence of feedback or were the result of target absence from the answer choices offered on the recognition survey. Therefore, Experiment 2 holds the delay constant at 1 week between care package assembly and test, provides all subjects confirmatory feedback following product brand identification, but varies the target presence on the identification survey.

Methods

Participants. Seventy-eight Baylor University undergraduate students volunteered their participation in the experiment, earning experimental participation credit for introductory psychology courses in return. All participants signed an informed consent for research participation and received a copy of the form for their records. The study was approved by Baylor's Institutional Review Board and met the American Psychological Association's standards for minimal risk to the well-being of subjects. At the conclusion of each research session, subjects were debriefed with respect to the objective of the care package assembly activity.

as well. However, in this case, subjects completed one of two types of product identification surveys. The target-present identification survey (see Appendix A) included the correct response as an answer choice among three distracter choices. The target-absent survey included four product brand answer choices, none of which was the correct brand of product subjects included in the care package a week prior to test. The same confidence survey used in Experiment 1 was used as well (see Appendix B).

Procedure. The same procedure followed in Experiment 1 was repeated in Experiment 2, except that all subjects returned 1 week later to complete the identification and confidence surveys and all subjects were (falsely) told "good, you got it right" between identifying a product brand and rating confidence in their (incorrect) answer.

Results

Subjects whose product brand identification was incorrect on target-present surveys reported higher levels of confidence in their responses (M = 76.55, SEM = 2.64) than subjects whose responses were incorrect (by design) on the target-absent survey (M = 52.41, SEM = 3.20). A t-test of independent samples reveals a significant difference in confidence between the two means [t(56) = 5.82, SE = .00]. There was a large effect of target presence on the difference between the two means (d = 1.6). Equal variances in the two data sets were assumed, given the value of Levene's test for the equality of error variances [F(2, 54) = 1.74, n.s.].

Discussion

The results comparing memory performance (accuracy) over various retention intervals between encoding and test are conclusive. That memory impairment occurs as a result of memory decay and interference over time is well-documented, and because the main objective of the second experiment is to test whether target-absence affects confidence following feedback, a single delay condition of 1 week was used. In addition, all subject responses were incorrect in the target-absent condition, while subject responses in the target-present condition could have been correct or incorrect. A total of 49 subjects were in the target-present group, but only the 29 incorrect responses in this condition were included in the analyses. By delaying all identification by a week, sufficient numbers of incorrect target-present responses were elicited, allowing reliable analyses with all 29 target-absent responses.

The target-present condition was more similar to the actual encoding condition (by including one answer choice that was the correct product subjects encountered), than

the target-absent condition, which was less similar to the encoding event (because the product brand subjects actually encountered is absent from the identification survey). Subjects in the target-absent condition did not remember a correct memory trace that included any of the distracter choices on the target-absent survey. Perhaps confidence in target-absent responses was lower than the incorrect responses in the target-present condition because none of the distracter choices on the target-absent survey should be associated with any memory trace of the encoding event. Those target-absent responses could be said to reflect memory traces that are weaker—because they are non-existent—than memory traces and resulting responses in the target-present condition. It was expected that feedback would affect confidence for "more weakly remembered" responses on the target absent survey more than the "more strongly remembered" responses on the target-present survey. The opposite was found.

Recall that previous research has shown that the feedback effect on confidence for incorrect responses is more pronounced than for correct responses. When the target is present on the identification survey, subjects who respond incorrectly must reject the correct answer to make the incorrect response. When subjects were presented both correct and incorrect answer choices (in the target-present condition) and chose the incorrect response, confidence was higher than the target-absent condition. When the target was absent from the identification survey, in order to be incorrect, subjects did not need to reject the correct answer, but were forced to choose an answer among all incorrect choices. That is, target-presence on the survey allowed subjects to respond incorrectly when the chance to be correct was present, but target-absence imposed inaccuracy on other subjects' responses. When subjects were incorrect "on their own" in

the target-present condition, confidence in their "own" inaccuracy was higher than confidence for responses in the target-absent condition that were forced to be incorrect by design of the survey.

CHAPTER FIVE

Product Involvement Effects on the Confidence/Accuracy (CA) Relationship

Experiment 3

The third experiment determined whether subjects' experience with particular products during care package assembly had an effect on their confidence and accuracy—and the relationship between the two—on a product brand identification survey 1 week later. Subjects either selected six products from two brands of each product to include in the care package (selected condition) or were provided the six brands of products that subjects in the selection condition chose in the previous session (provided condition). Subjects' assembly stations in the product-provided conditions included the brands of products subjects in the selection condition chose so that each brand of product was both chosen and provided equally as often over the course of the experiment. The dependent variables in question were accuracy of the product brand identification, confidence in subjects' responses, and the CA relationship, quantified by the Goodman-Kruskal gamma correlation, *G*.

Methods

Participants. Fifty-six Baylor University undergraduate students volunteered their participation in the experiment, earning experimental participation credit for introductory psychology courses in return. All participants signed an informed consent for research participation and received a copy of the form for their records. The study was approved by Baylor's Institutional Review Board and met the American

Psychological Association's standards for minimal risk to the well-being of subjects. At the conclusion of each research session, subjects were debriefed with respect to the objective of the care package assembly activity.

Materials. The same materials were used as in all previous experiments, except that the product identification survey (see Appendix C) included six 4-alternative, target-present recognition questions. It also asked for subjects' confidence in their responses on a scale of 0 to 100% in increments of 20% following each question.

Procedure. Subjects entered a classroom in the Baylor Sciences Building and seated themselves at one of 2 care package assembly stations set up on opposite sides of a large table in the center of the room. For the selection condition, six types of products were divided into two pairs of two different brands of each product and were placed on two separate tables at the back of the room. Each table held a pair of six different types of products (see Table 1). A hand-held game, cards, and notepad were provided at each assembly station along with a cardboard box and bubble wrap. Subjects were given instructions on how to pack the care package, then assembled the six toiletry items, the game, cards, and notepad into a cardboard box, using bubble wrap to prepare the package for shipping. Upon returning 1 week later to an adjacent conference room, all subjects completed the product identification survey.

Table 1. Assembly Station Product Brand Selections, Experiment 3.

Lotion	Mouthwash	Shampoo	Soap	Sunscreen	Toothpaste
Aveeno	Listerene	Dove	Coast	Coppertone	Aquafresh
Jergens	Oasis	Pert Plus	Lever 2000	Hawaiian Tropic	Rembrandt
Lubriderm	Act	Pantene	Dial	Banana Boat	Colgate
Vaseline	Plax	V05	Irish Spring	Ocean Potion	Crest

Results

Table 2 shows that subjects who selected their products for inclusion in the care package were more accurate (M = .49, SEM = .04) than those who were provided their products (M = .33, SEM = .04) and more confident (M = 55.71, SEM = 3.29) than the provided condition (M = 39.28, SEM = 4.50). As such, selection condition had a statistically significant effect on accuracy [t(54) = 2.85, SE = .01] and confidence [t(54) = 2.95, SE = .01]. Levene's test for the equality of variances was not significant for the differences in mean accuracy, but was significant for the confidence data [F(2, 54) = 4.32, p < .05]. Therefore, the t-test for the differences in mean confidence between the selection groups was performed with a correction for unequal variances. The mean within-subject G scores across six responses did not vary according to selection condition.

Subjects who selected their products were not only more confident in their incorrect answers (M = 47.29, SEM = 2.6) than those who were provided the same products (M = 37.50, SEM = 2.6), but were also more confident in their correct answers (M = 64.34, SEM = 2.9) than subjects in the provided condition (M = 42.86, SEM = 4.3).

A cross-tabulation of confidence levels from 0% to 100% in increments of 20% and accurate and inaccurate responses across all subjects revealed a strong association between confidence and accuracy for the selected-products condition (G = .44), but a weak association of the same for the provided-products condition (G = .11).

Table 2. Mean Within-Subject Accuracy, Confidence, and G Across Selection Conditions, Experiment 3.

Condition	Accuracy	Confidence	Gamma (G)
Selected	.49 (.04)	55.71 (3.29)	.41 (.13)
Provided	.33 (.04)	39.28 (4.50)	.25 (.15)

Discussion

According to previous research involving the actor/observer bias for eyewitness memory, it was expected that increased product involvement would lead to better encoding. Subjects who selected products were (presumably) more engaged in the encoding event, and more involved with the product itself, than were the subjects provided products to include in the care package. Indeed, subjects who selected six products for inclusion into the care package were more accurate and confident in their brand identifications 1 week later than subjects who were provided the same. These data confirm earlier results indicating that the quality of the encoding experience affects memory performance such that participants in one staged crime accurately recalled more event detail 12 weeks later than witnesses.

It was expected that the selection condition (higher level of subject involvement) would exhibit a higher value of G than the provided condition. That is, that subjects who

selected products would exhibit better calibration between the accuracy of their identifications and confidence in their responses. However, there was no significant difference between the mean within-subject *G* score across both conditions of product selection. Within selection conditions, subjects who selected products, even while reporting higher levels of confidence across both accurate and inaccurate responses, displayed better calibration than subjects in the provided condition. As expected, increased product involvement lead to not only enhanced response accuracy, but also better confidence/accuracy calibration over a retention interval.

Experiment 4

The fourth experiment tested whether asking subjects to justify their product selection affects accuracy and confidence for subsequent product brand identification a week later. The two conditions of product involvement will be whether subjects are asked to justify their product brand selection on the identification survey (justify condition) or are not asked to justify the same on the identification survey (no-justify condition). Subjects in the justification condition were asked to state why they selected the brands of products they included in the care package on the identification survey, along with their response as to the brands they selected and confidence in the accuracy of their answers. Subjects in the no-justification condition were not asked to justify their selections, but completed the identification survey with confidence ratings for each response. The dependent variables in question are accuracy of the product brand identification, confidence in subjects' responses, and the CA relationship, quantified by the Goodman-Kruskal gamma correlation, *G*.

Methods

Participants. Fifty-four Baylor University undergraduate students volunteered their participation in the experiment, earning experimental participation credit for introductory psychology courses in return. All participants signed an informed consent for research participation and received a copy of the form for their records. The study was approved by Baylor's Institutional Review Board and met the American Psychological Association's standards for minimal risk to the well-being of subjects. At the conclusion of each research session, subjects were debriefed with respect to the objective of the care package assembly activity.

Materials. The same materials were used as in Experiment 3 (see Appendix C), except that the product identification survey included, for the justify condition, a question asking subjects to justify why they selected a particular brand of product (see Appendix D). It also asked for subjects' confidence in their responses on a scale of 0 to 100% in increments of 20% following each question.

Procedure. The same procedure was used as in Experiment 3, except that all subjects selected six types of products according to the product brand selection schedule given in Table 1.

Results

Surprisingly, there were no statistically significant differences in mean accuracy, confidence, or within-subject G scores between justification groups.

Table 3. Mean Within-Subject Accuracy, Confidence, and G Across Justification Conditions, Experiment 4.

Condition	Accuracy	Confidence	Gamma (G)
Justify	.54 (.04)	56.54 (4.23)	.65 (.08)
No-justify	.49 (.04)	55.92 (3.41)	.41 (.13)

Discussion

It was expected that asking subjects to justify their product brand selection would result in subjects reflecting on their encoding experience of preparing the care package to a greater extent than subjects who were not asked to justify their selection. The justification condition, therefore, was expected to exhibit higher accuracy, confidence, and *G* scores than the no-justification condition. No such differences were found between justification conditions on any dependent variables. It seems that asking subjects to reflect on and explain some aspect of their encoding experience has no bearing on their memory performance or confidence in the same.

CHAPTER SIX

Conclusion

The four experiments utilized a novel paradigm for eyewitness testimony investigation, one in which subjects' incidental product brand exposure occurs while they perform some meaningful task, unlike traditional psychological experimentation procedures. Historically, eyewitness identification in the laboratory has involved slide shows of some criminal event and subjects are fully aware that the overall purpose of the slide show is part of a psychological experiment. The most commonly used slide show in eyewitness memory research was developed in 1985, which depicts a suspect breaking into an office and stealing a calculator from a desk (McCloskey & Zaragoza, 1985). However, the current studies employed a paradigm that resembles personal injury plaintiffs' initial exposure to harmful products—one in which the focus of the product exposure is not a psychology experiment, but rather a purposeful task in which they encounter certain products. After some amount of time, plaintiffs are asked unexpectedly about the brands they encountered during some episode of product exposure in the past. To the subjects of the present experiments (as well as claimants of personal injury suits), product brands and other details are seemingly unimportant at the time they worked with the products. This is not the case if subjects know they are working with products for the sake of psychological experimentation itself and will be asked about the product brands later. Similarly, claimants of personal injury suits did not know the product brands would be vitally important decades later and that their memory for those brands would be tested and scrutinized. The experience of subjects in this paradigm approximates the incidental

encoding condition in which harmful product exposure occurs outside the laboratory.

Therefore, conclusions drawn from the data obtained using the care package assembly paradigm may be extrapolated to matters concerning product brand identification during personal injury lawsuits against companies that manufactured harmful products long ago.

In the case of confirmatory post-identification feedback, plaintiffs may be asked to identify particular brands of products they have encountered in the past and, in the course of pre-trial preparations, may be coached as to their response and asked how sure they are that they are correct. Experiments 1 and 2 established the first line of investigation into confidence malleability following confirmatory post-identification feedback for *delayed* identification. The interview techniques providing subjects with confirming feedback concerning their responses—right or wrong—mimicked the procedures prescribed by law firms in preparing a claimant for their deposition, namely, to encourage witness confidence in identifying product brands they may have encountered during some past critical event.

Subjects whose responses were confirmed, incorrectly, in Experiment 1 reported higher levels of confidence than those who were not told their answers were correct at test following both 10 minutes and 1 week delays. However, the confirmatory feedback effect was pronounced for the delayed identification group. These findings suggest that confidence in delayed product brand identification is susceptible to interviewer feedback, especially if the individual's response is incorrect because the correct answer is not given as an answer choice at test.

Experiment 2 was carried out to approximate the conditions by which claimants in civil litigation suits identify brands of products from photo books that may—or may

not—include as an answer choice the brand of product they actually encountered years earlier. Subjects who made incorrect responses when the correct answer was provided at test reported higher levels of confidence than those who were forced to be incorrect on a target-absent survey. Subjects who were wrong by rejecting the correct answer choice were more confident in their response accuracy than subjects who were wrong by design of the survey. This was surprising, as it was expected that the target-absent condition would rate confidence higher after confirmatory feedback than the target-present condition. These findings suggest that even if the correct product brand is included in materials provided claimants in preparing for their deposition, they may identify with high levels of confidence, a product brand that is incorrect.

Experiments 3 and 4 were conducted to test the effects of encoding factors that may influence the confidence/accuracy relationship. It was thought that the degree to which an individual is involved with a product may predict the chance that witness confidence is a reliable indicator of identification accuracy. That is, the more an individual is involved with a product, as in selecting, purchasing, or directly working with it, the more likely they will be well-calibrated with respect to confidence and identification accuracy. The less an individual is involved with a product, as in being on the premises of the harmful product or being provided the product to work with, the less likely their confidence will indicate identification accuracy. There was no precedent in the eyewitness memory literature for this particular area of study. Previous studies have carried out regression analyses on subjects' post-identification judgments of encoding characteristics such as subject estimates of the amount of time the perpetrator was shown

in surveillance video, but none have directly manipulated the encoding condition between subjects to identify the effects of such on confidence for delayed identification.

Experiment 3 established the methodology and preliminary findings concerning the product selection paradigm in this new line of eyewitness memory research. Subjects who selected products 1 week prior to test were more accurate, confident, and the correlation between the two measures was higher than subjects who were provided products for inclusion in the care packages. This suggests that individuals who have had an increased level of involvement with certain products will be more accurate, and accurately confident, in identifying the brands of products they have encountered than those who have had less involvement with the same products. Therefore, product liability claims involving plaintiffs who were merely on site of defendants' products may be less accurate in identifying the product brand they allegedly encountered years ago than individuals who selected or otherwise handled the products directly.

Experiment 4 tested whether asking subjects to justify their selection of particular brands of product corresponded to an increase in accuracy and confidence. It was thought asking subjects to reflect on the encoding experience by explaining their selection would correspond to increased accuracy and confidence. However, no such increase was found, as subjects who were asked to explain their product brand selection were just as accurate and confident as those who were not asked to reflect on their experience with the product. Claimants who may be asked to explain how and why they know they chose or otherwise worked with a particular brand of product may not be more accurate than those who are merely asked to identify and rate confidence. Presumably, elaborate justifications of how and why a plaintiff knows they encountered a particular

brand of product do not necessarily indicate they are correct, or even more likely correct than if they did not provide the explanation for their answer. An increased level of involvement alone is enough to indicate an increased chance that an individual's product brand identification is accurate, and that confidence reported by the more-involved individual is a good indicator of response accuracy.

The limitations of the studies can be addressed in future directions of this line of research. Claimants who have fallen ill as a result of direct exposure to harmful products likely report having encountered the products multiple times. Repeated exposure of the same products to subjects over time would more closely resemble this scenario. One criticism of this line of research is that we are testing, largely, college freshmen who are dissimilar from the claimants in product liability suits in many ways. When the field of applied cognitive psychology tests how memories are formed in the laboratory, we assume that the process of memorizing and memory retrieval occurs in the same manner across individuals. The differences lie in the aforementioned encoding variables, such as repeated exposures, and perhaps also familiarity and relevance of the products to the individual's everyday life. One could also carry these experiments out in the field using construction workers currently employed and working with products with potential, asyet unknown dangers to their health. By recording the brands of products currently used on particular job sites, workers could be tested a week, months, or even years the jobs are completed. The conditions of those field experiments would even more closely resemble the conditions under which claimants worked with certain brands of products long ago.

Forensic psychology cannot presume that plaintiffs in product liability lawsuits knowingly confabulate their involvement with particular brands of products years ago.

However, the overall goal of this study is to inform triers-of-fact about the mercurial effects of confidence. While plaintiffs may report their testimony with high levels of certainty, confidence may be susceptible to interviewer feedback and encouragement and that the ability of confidence to predict identification accuracy may depend on the quality and level of involvement the plaintiff had with the product long ago.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A

Identification Survey, Experiments 1 and 2 $\,$

Baylor Student ID Number:	Age:	Gender: M/F
Please answer the following questions based on package.	your experience of pre	paring the care
Did you know before the session began the brands of products included in the care pawe just need to know! You'll still receive to Yes / No	ackages? (Be honest - : full credit for participa	its OK if you did, ting!) Circle:
1.) What brand of hand lotion did you inclu	ıde ın your care package	. .
Curel		
Aveeno		
Lubriderm		
Vaseline Intensive Care		
I did not include hand lotion in m	y care package	

APPENDIX B

Confidence Survey, Experiments 1 and 2

Baylor Stu	dent ID Num	ber:		Age:	Gender: M/F
	wer the follow tification surv	U 1	ased on your exp	perience of comp	pleting the product
	3	*	ent were you that are package was	•	ncerning the brand
0%	20%	$40^{\circ}/_{\circ}$	60%	80%	100%

APPENDIX C

Survey, Experiment 3, Both Conditions and Experiment 4, No-justification Condition

•	1		1	, 3	
Baylor Stud	dent ID Numl	oer:		Age:	_ Gender: M/F
	ver the follow ne care packa	-	noice questions	based on your e	xperience of
brands	of products i need to know	ncluded in the	care package	would be surve s? (Be honest - dit for participa	its OK if you did,
2.) Wh	Aveeno Jergens Lubriderm Vaseline I	n ntensive Care	you include in y ion in my care p	our care package oackage	e?
	lent are you th backage was co		concerning the	brand of hand 1	otion you included
0%	20%	40%	60%	80%	100%
2.) Wha	Act Listerene Oasis Plax	·	ou include in yo ash in my care 1	our care package package	?
	lent are you th	•	concerning the	brand of mouth	wash you included
0%	20%	40%	60%	80%	100%

	20%	40%	60%	80%	100
4.) V	What brand of so	ap did vou incl	ude in vour care	e package?	
,	Coast	- P) = 0	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	1	
	Dial Irish Sprir	ng			
	Lever 200	0 include soap in	my care packago	<u> </u>	
		1	, 1		
	nfident are you th		concerning the	brand of soap	you inclu
	tage was correct?				

3.) What brand of **shampoo** did you include in your care package?

Dove Pantene Pert Plus

	Copperto Hawaiian Ocean Po I did not	Tropic	en in my care pa	nckage	
	fident are you th backage was corn		concerning the	brand of sunso	creen you i
0%	20%	40%	60%	80%	100%
6.) W	That brand of to Aquafresl		ou include in yo	ur care package	?
6.) W	Aquafresl Colgate		ou include in yo	ur care package	?
6.) W	Aquafresl Colgate Crest	n	ou include in yo	ur care package	?
6.) W	Aquafresh Colgate Crest Rembrand	n	·		?
How con	Aquafresh Colgate Crest Rembrand	dt include toothpa nat your answer	ste in my care p	ackage	
How con	Aquafresh Colgate Crest Rembrand I did not :	dt include toothpa nat your answer	ste in my care p	ackage	

APPENDIX D

Survey, Experiment 4, Justification Condition

Baylor Stud	ent ID Numl	oer:		Age:	_ Gender: M/F
	er the follow e care packaş	-	oice questions	based on your e	experience of
brands o	of products i need to know	ncluded in the	•	s? (Be honest -	eyed about the its OK if you did, ating!) Circle:
	Aveeno Jergens Lubriderm Vaseline I I did not i	n ntensive Care	you include in you include in you in my care page above?		e?
	ent are you th ackage was co		concerning the	brand of hand l	lotion you included
0%	20%	40%	60%	80%	100%
ŕ	Act Listerene Oasis Plax I did not i	·	ou include in you ash in my care p above?		· . ?

	lent are you th backage was co	•	concerning the	brand of moutl	hwash you included
0%	20%	40%	60%	80%	100%
ŕ	Dove Pantene Pert Plus V05 I did not i	•	o in my care pad	. 0	
————					
	lent are you th		concerning the	brand of sham j	poo you included in
0%	20%	40%	60%	80%	100%
ŕ	Coast Dial Irish Sprir Lever 200 I did not i	ng O	ude in your care my care package l above?		
	lent are you the e was correct?	•	concerning the	brand of soap y	you included in the
0%	20%	40%	60%	80%	100%
5.) What b	Banana Bo Coppertor Hawaiian Ocean Po	oat ne Tropic tion	clude in your ca	, 0	

	ident are you th ackage was corre		oncerning the b	orand of sunsc	reen you included in
0%	20%	40%	60%	80%	100%
ŕ	Aquafresh Colgate Crest Rembrand I did not in		e in my care pa		
How conf	ident are you the package was co	•	oncerning the b	orand of tooth	paste you included

REFERENCES

- Ackil, J. K., & Zaragoza, M. (1998). Memorial consequences of forced confabulation: Age differences in susceptibility to false memories. *Developmental Psychology*, 34, 1358-1372.
- Allwood, C. M., Knutsson, J., & Granhag, P. A. (2006). Eyewitnesses under influence: How feedback affects the realism in confidence judgments. *Psychology, Crime, & Law, 12*, 25-38.
- American Academy of Actuaries Mass Torts Subcommittee. (2006). Current issues in asbestos litigation. Washington, DC: Author.
- Bahrick, H. P. (1975). Fifty years of memory for names and faces: A cross-sectional approach. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General, 104*, 54-75.
- Bahrick, H. P. (1991). Lifetime maintenance of high school mathematics content. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 120, 20-33.
- Bem, D. J. (1967). Self-perception: An alternative interpretation of cognitive dissonance phenomena. *Psychological Review*, 74, 183-200.
- Berenson, A. (2002, April 10). A surge in asbestos suits, many by healthy plaintiffs. *The New York Times*, p. A1.
- Biederman, C. (1998, August 13). Toxic justice. *Journal*. Retrieved from http://www.dallasobserver.com/issues/1998-08-13/feature_6.html
- Bjork, E. L., & Bjork, R. A. (1988). On the adaptive aspects of retrieval failure in autobiographical memory. In M. M. Gruneberg, P. E. Morris & R. N. Sykes (Eds.), *Practical aspects of memory: Current research and issues: Vol. 1 Memory in everyday life* (pp. 283-288). Oxford: John Wiley & Sons.
- Borel v. Fibreboard Paper Products Corp., 493 F.2d 1076 (5th Cir. 1973).
- Bradfield, A. L., Wells, G. L., & Olson, E. A. (2002). The damaging effect of confirming feedback on the relation between eyewitness certainty and identification accuracy. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 87, 112-120.
- Brennan, R. L., Jr. (2003). Premises liability claims for asbestos exposure increase as plaintiffs' lawyers target landlords and tenants. *Real Estate Finance Journal*, 19, 1-5.

- Brewer, N., & Williams, D. (2005). *Psychology and law: An empirical perspective*. New York: Guilford Press.
- Brickman, L. (2001). Lawyers' ethics and fiduciary obligation in the brave new world of aggregative litigation. *William and Mary Environmental Law and Policy Review*, 26, 243-309.
- Brickman, L. (2004). On the theory class's theories of asbestos litigation: The disconnect between scholarship and reality? *Pepperdine Law Review*, *31*, 33-170.
- Carmichael, L., Hogan, H. P., & Walter, A. A. (1932). An experimental study of the effect of language on the reproduction of visually perceived form. *Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 15, 73-86.
- Carroll, S. J., Hensler, D., Abrahamse, A., Gross, J., White, M., Ashwood, J. S., et al. (2002). Asbestos litigation costs and compensation: An interim report. Santa Monica, CA: RAND Institute for Civil Justice.
- Carroll, S. J., Hensler, D., Gross, J., Sloss, E. M., Schonlau, M., Abrahamse, A., et al. (2005). Asbestos litigation. Santa Monica, CA: RAND Institute for Civil Justice.
- Charman, S. D., & Wells, G. L. (2008). Can eyewitnesses correct for external influences on their lineup identifications? The actual/counterfactual assessment paradigm. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Applied, 14*, 5-20.
- Christensen, B. C., Godleski, J. J., Marsit, C. J., Houseman, E. A., Lopez-Fagundo, C. Y., Longacker, J. L., et al. (2008). Asbestos exposure predicts cell cycle control gene promotor methylation in pleural mesothelioma. *Carcinogenesis*, *29*, 1555-1559.
- Christensen, B. C., Godleski, J. J., Roelofs, C. R., Longacker, J. L., Bueno, R., Sugarbaker, D. J., et al. (2008). Asbestos burden predicts survival in pleural mesothelioma. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 116, 723-726.
- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences* (2nd ed.). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Earlbaum Associates.
- Cohen, H., & Brooks, N. (2005). CRS report for congress: Fairness in Asbestos Injury Resolution Act of 2005. Washington, DC: Author.
- Colby, M. A., & Weaver, C. A., III. (2006). Comparing eyewitness memory and confidence for actors and observers in product identification situations: Extending findings and methodology from criminal justice. *Applied Psychology in Criminal Justice*, 2, 145-162.

- Congressional Budget Office. (2005). Cost estimate for the Fairness in Asbestos Injury Resolution Act of 2005. Washington, DC: U.S. Senate Committee on the Judiciary.
- Deffenbacher, K. A. (1980). Eyewitness accuracy and confidence: Can we infer anything about their relationship? *Law and Human Behavior*, *4*, 243-260.
- Dixon, S., & Memon, A. (2005). The effect of post-identification feedback on the recall of crime and perpetrator details. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 19, 935-951.
- Douglass, A. B., & McQuiston-Surrett, D. (2006). Post-identification feedback: Exploring the effects of sequential photospreads and eyewitnesses' awareness of the identification task. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 20, 991-1007.
- Douglass, A. B., & Steblay, N. (2006). Memory distortion in eyewitnesses: A metaanalysis of the post-identification feedback effect. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 20, 859-869.
- Ebbinghaus, H. (1913/1885). Retention and obliviscence as a function of the time (H. A. Roger & C. E. Bussenius, Trans.). In *Memory: A contribution to experimental psychology* (pp. 62-80). New York, NY: Teacher's College.
- Enterline, P. E., & Kendrick, M. A. (1967). Asbestos-dust exposures at various levels and mortality. *Archives of Environmental Health*, *15*, 181-186.
- Fischhoff, B. (1975). Hindsight doesn't equal foresight: The effect of outcome knowledge on judgment under uncertainty. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance*, 1, 288-299.
- Frank, T. (2006). *Making the FAIR Act fair*. Washington, D.C.: American Enterprise Institute for Public Policy Research.
- Frost, G., Harding, A. H., Darnton, A., McElvenny, D., & Morgan, D. (2008).

 Occupational exposure to asbestos and mortality among asbetos removal workers:

 A Poisson regression analysis. *British Journal of Cancer*, 99, 822-829.
- Fruzzetti, A. E., Toland, K., Teller, S. A., & Loftus, E. F. (1992). Memory and eyewitness testimony. In M. M. Gruneberg & P. E. Morris (Eds.), *Practical aspects of memory: Current research and issues: Vol. 1 Memory in everyday life* (2nd ed., pp. 18-50). Oxford: John Wiley & Sons.
- Haber, R. N., & Haber, L. (2000). Experiencing, remembering, and reporting events. *Psychology, Public Policy, and Law, 6*, 1057-1097.
- Hampel, P. (2005, May 11). Defense attorneys grill witness in asbestos trial: Plaintiff's daughter testifies about products from 1972. *St. Louis Post-Dispatch*, p. B1.

- Hanba, J. M., & Zaragoza, M. (2007). Interviewer feedback in repeated interviews involving forced confabulation. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 21, 433-455.
- Hensler, D., Carroll, S. J., White, M., & Gross, J. (2001). Asbestos litigation in the U.S.: A new look at an old issue. Santa Monica, CA: RAND Institute for Civil Justice.
- Hensler, D., Felstiner, W. L. F., Selvin, M., & Ebener, P. A. (1985). Asbestos in the courts: The challenge of mass toxic torts. Santa Monica, CA: RAND Institute for Civil Justice.
- Herman, D. T., Lawless, R. H., & Marshall, R. W. (1957). Variables in the effect of language on the reproduction of visually perceived forms. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 7, 171-186.
- Holmes, A. E., & Weaver, C. A., III. (in press). Eyewitness memory and misinformation: Are remember/know judgments more reliable than subjective confidence? *Applied Psychology in Criminal Justice*.
- Holtz-Eakin, D. (2005). CBO testimony: Estimates of the potential cost of claims under the Fairness in Asbestos Injury Resolution Act. Washington, DC: U.S. Senate Committee on the Judiciary.
- Hosch, H. M., & Cooper, D. S. (1982). Victimization as a determinant of eyewitness accuracy. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 67, 649-652.
- Hosch, H. M., Leippe, M. R., Marchioni, P. M., & Cooper, D. S. (1984). Victimization, self-monitoring, and eyewitness identification. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 69, 280-288.
- Ihlebaek, C., Love, T., Eilertsen, D. E., & Magnussen, S. (2003). Memory for a staged criminal event witnessed live and on video. *Memory*, 11, 319-327.
- Jenkins v. Raymark Industries, Inc., 782 F.2d 468 (5th Cir. 1986).
- Kassin, S. M. (1984). Eyewitness identification: Victims versus bystanders. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, *14*, 519-529.
- Kassin, S. M., Tubb, V. A., Hosch, H. M., & Memon, A. (2001). On the "general acceptance" of eyewitness testimony research: A new survey of the experts. *American Psychologist*, *56*, 405-416.
- Kazan, S. (2003). Asbestos litigation and tort law: Trends, ethics, and solutions. *Pepperdine Law Review, 31*, 227-232.

- Keogh, L., & Markham, R. (1998). Judgments of other people's memory reports: Differences in reports as a function of imagery vividness. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 12, 159-171.
- Kirk, R. E. (2005). *Experimental design: Procedures for the behavioral sciences*. Pacific Grove, CA: Brooks/Cole Publishing Company.
- Krug, K. S. (2007). The relationship between confidence and accuracy: Current thoughts of the literature and a new area of research. *Applied Psychology in Criminal Justice*, *3*, 7-41.
- Krug, K. S., & Weaver, C. A., III. (2005). Eyewitness memory and metamemory in product identification: Evidence for familiarity biases. *The Journal of General Psychology*, 132, 429-445.
- Lampinen, J. M., Copeland, S. M., & Neuschatz, J. S. (2001). Recollections of things schematic: Room schemas revisited. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, & Cognition, 27*, 1211-1222.
- Lane, S. M., & Zaragoza, M. (1995). The recollective experience of cross-modality confusion errors. *Memory & Cognition*, 23, 607-610.
- Leippe, M. R. (1980). Effects of integrative memorial and cognitive processes on the correspondence of eyewitness accuracy and confidence. *Law and Human Behavior*, *4*, 261-274.
- Leippe, M. R., Eisenstadt, D., Rauch, S. M., & Stambush, M. A. (2006). Effects of social-comparative memory feedback on eyewitnesses' identification confidence, suggestibility, and retrospective memory reports. *Basic and Applied Social Psychology*, 28, 201-220.
- Leippe, M. R., Manion, A. P., & Romanczyk, A. (1992). Eyewitness persuasion: How and how well do fact finders judge the accuracy of adults' and children's memory reports? *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 63, 181-197.
- Lindsay, R. C. L., & Wells, G. L. (1985). Improving eyewitness identifications from lineups: Simultaneous versus sequential lineup presentation. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 70, 556-564.
- Lindsay, R. C. L., Wells, G. L., & Rumpel, C. M. (1981). Can people detect eyewitness-identification accuracy within and across situations? *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 66, 79-89.
- Loftus, E. F. (1974). Reconstructing memory: The incredible eyewitness. *Psychology Today*, *8*, 116-119.

- Loftus, E. F. (1975). Leading questions and the eyewitness report. *Cognitive Psychology*, 7, 560-572.
- Loftus, E. F. (1996). Memory distortion and false memory creation. *Bulletin of the American Academy of Psychiatry and the Law*, 24, 281-295.
- Loftus, E. F., & Palmer, J. C. (1974). Reconstruction of automobile destruction: An example of the interaction between language and memory. *Journal of Verbal Learning and Verbal Behavior*, *13*, 585-589.
- Loftus, E. F., & Zanni, G. (1975). Eyewitness testimony: The influence of the wording of a question. *Bulletin of the Psychonomic Society*, *5*, 86-88.
- Manville Personal Injury Settlement Trust: Summary of Quarterly Filings to the Court. (1998). Retrieved February 1, 2009, from http://www.mantrust.org/FILINGS/q4_98/4statmnt.htm
- Manville Personal Injury Settlement Trust: Highlights of the 4th Quarter 1997 Filing. (1998). Retrieved February 1, 2009, from http://www.mantrust.org/FILINGS/q4_97/4thqtr97.htm
- McCloskey, M., & Zaragoza, M. (1985). Misleading postevent information and memory for events: Arguments and evidence against memory impairment hypotheses. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General, 114*, 1-16.
- McGovern, F. E. (2002). The tragedy of the asbestos commons. *Virginia Law Review*, 88, 1721-1756.
- Migueles, M., & Garcia-Bajos, E. (1999). Recall, recognition, and confidence patterns in eyewitness testimony. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 13, 257-268.
- Munsterberg, H. (1908). *On the witness stand: Essays on psychology and crime*. Garden City, NY: Doubleday, Page, & Co.
- Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188 (1972).
- Nelson, T. O. (1984). A comparison of current measures of the accuracy of feeling-of-knowing predictions. *Psychological Bulletin*, *95*, 109-133.
- Nelson, T. O. (1996). Gamma is a measure of the accuracy of predicting performance on one item relative to another item, not of the absolute performance on an individual item: Comments on Schraw (1995). *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 10, 257-260.

- Neuschatz, J. S., Lawson, D. S., Fairless, A. H., Powers, R. A., Neuschatz, J. S., Goodsell, C. A., et al. (2007). The mitigating effects of suspicion on post-identification feedback and on retrospective eyewitness memory. *Law and Human Behavior*, 31, 231-247.
- Nicholson, W. J., Perkel, G., & Selikoff, I. J. (1982). Occupational exposure to asbestos: Population at risk and projected mortality 1980-2030. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine*, *3*, 259-311.
- Olson, W. (1998, June). Thanks for the memories: How lawyers get the testimony they want. *Journal*. Retrieved from http://www.overlawyered.com/articles/olson/memories.html
- Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970, Pub. L. No. 91-596, 84 Stat. 1590 (1970).
- Occupational Safety and Health Standards: Toxic and Hazardous Substances, 29 C.F.R. § 1910 (1971).
- Paddock, J. R., Terrancova, S., Kwok, R., & Halpern, D. V. (2000). When knowing becomes remembering: Individual differences in susceptibility to suggestion. *The Journal of Genetic Psychology*, *161*, 453-468.
- Parloff, R. (2002, March 4). The \$200 billion miscarriage of justice: Asbestos lawyers are pitting plaintiffs who aren't sick against companies that never made the stuff—and extracting billion for themselves. *Fortune*, *145*, 154-160.
- Parloff, R. (2003, January 15). Mass tort medicine men. *Journal*. Retrieved from http://www.law.com/jsp/law/LawArticleFriendly.jsp?id=1039054509403
- Pendell, J. (2005). Regulating attorney-funded mass medical screenings: A public health imperative? Washington, DC: AEI-Brookings Joint Center for Regulatory Studies.
- Penrod, S. (2003, Spring). Eyewitness identification evidence: How well are witnesses and police performing? *Criminal Justice Magazine*, *54*, 36-47.
- Penrod, S., & Cutler, B. (1995). Witness confidence and witness accuracy: Assessing their forensic relation. *Psychology, Public Policy, and Law, 1*, 817-845.
- Pesta, B. J., Murphy, M. D., & Sanders, R. E. (2001). Are emotionally charged lures immune to false memory? *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, & Cognition, 27*, 238-338.
- Pohl, R. F. (2007). Ways to assess hindsight bias. Social Cognition, 25, 14-31.

- Pollio, H. R., & Foote, R. (1971). Memory as a reconstructive process. *British Journal of Psychology*, 62, 53-58.
- Powers, P. A., Andriks, J. L., & Loftus, E. F. (1979). Eyewitness accounts of females and males. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 64, 339-347.
- Price, B. (1997). Analysis of current trends in United States mesothelioma incidence. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 145, 211-217.
- Read, J. D., & Connolly, D. A. (2006). The effects of delay on long-term memory for witnessed events. In M. P. Toglia, J. D. Read, D. F. Ross, & R. C. L. Lindsay (Eds.), *The Handbook of Eyewitness Psychology* (Vol. 1, pp. 117-155). Mahwah, N. J.: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Reinitz, M. T., Morrissey, J., & Demb, J. (1994). Role of attention in face encoding. Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, & Cognition, 20, 161-168.
- Scheflin, A. W., Brown, D., Firscholz, E. J., & Caploe, J. (2002). Special methodologies in memory retrieval: Chemical, hypnotic, and imagery procedures. In R. I. Simon & D. W. Shuman (Eds.), *Retrospective assessment of mental states in litigation: Predicting the past* (pp. 369-423). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Publishing, Inc.
- Schmechel, R. S., O'Toole, T. P., Easterly, C., & Loftus, E. F. (2006). Beyond the ken? Testing jurors' understanding of eyewitness reliability evidence. *Jurimetrics*, 46, 177-214.
- Selikoff, I. J., Churg, J., & Hammond, E. C. (1964). Asbestos exposure and neoplasia. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 188, 22-26.
- Selikoff, I. J., Churg, J., & Hammond, E. C. (1965). The occurrence of asbestosis among insulation workers in the United States. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 132, 139-155.
- Semmler, C., Brewer, N., & Wells, G. L. (2004). Effects of postidentification feedback on eyewitness identification and nonidentification confidence. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 89, 334-346.
- Shapiro, P. N., & Penrod, S. (1986). Meta-analysis of facial identification studies. *Psychological Bulletin*, 100, 139-156.
- Shaw, J. S., III, McClure, K. A., & Wilkens, C. E. (2001). Recognition instructions and recognition practice can alter the confidence-response time relationship. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 86, 93-103.

- Stallard, E. (2001, February). *Product liability forecasting for asbestos-related personal injury claims: A multidisciplinary approach*. Paper presented at the National Institute on Aging Conference: Demography and Epidemiology: Frontiers in Population Health and Aging.
- Stanny, C. J., & Johnson, T. C. (2000). Effects of stress induced by a simulated shooting on recall by police and citizen witnesses. *American Journal of Psychology*, 113, 359-386.
- Stengel, J. L. (2006). The asbestos end-game. *The New York University Annual Survey of American Law*, 62, 223-270.
- Stiglitz, J. E., Orszag, J. M., & Orszag, P. R. (2002). The impact of asbestos liabilities on workers in bankrupt firms. Washington, DC: Sebago Associates.
- Szabo v. Bridgeport Machines, Inc., 249 F.3d 672 (7th Cir. 2001).
- Terrance, C., Thayer, A., & Kehn, A. (2006). Undermining eyewtiness confidence inflation: Effecting change through expert testimony. *Journal of Forensic Psychology Practice*, 6, 73-82.
- Terrell, J. T., & Weaver, C. A., III. (2008). Eyewitness testimony in civil litigation: Retention, suggestion, and misinformation in product identification. *North American Journal of Psychology*, 10, 323-346.
- U.S. Geological Survey. (2007). Asbestos statistics. In T. D. Kelly & G. R. Matos (Comps.), *Historical statistics for mineral and material commodities in the United States: U.S. Geological Survey data series 140*. Retrieved February 1, 2009, from http://pubs.usgs.gov/ds/2005/140/
- Towers-Perrin Tillinghast. (2006). *U.S. tort costs and cross-border perspectives: 2005 update.* Stamford, CT: Author.
- Ward, R. A., & Loftus, E. F. (1985). Eyewitness performance in different psychological types. *The Journal of General Psychology*, 112, 191-200.
- Warren, S. (2003, January 27). Asbestos quagmire: Plaintiffs target companies whose premises contained any form of deadly material. *The Wall Street Journal*, p. B1.
- Weaver, C. A., III, Terrell, J. T., & Holmes, A. E. (2006). *Evaluating the reliability of eyewitness memory in product identification cases*. Paper presented at the American Law Institute/American Bar Association Meeting, New Orleans, LA.
- Weaver, C. A., III, Terrell, J. T., & Krug, K. S. (2004). *Remembrance of things past:*Evaluating the reliability of witness memories. Paper presented at the Thompson-West Publishing Andrews' Asbestos Litigation 2004, New Orleans, LA.

- Weill, H., Hughes, J. M., & Churg, A. M. (2004). Changing trends in U.S. mesothelioma incidence. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 61, 438-441.
- Wells, G. L. (1978). Applied eyewitness-testimony research: System variables and estimator variables. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *36*, 1546-1557.
- Wells, G. L. (1984). The psychology of lineup identifications. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 14, 89-103.
- Wells, G. L. (1993, May). What do we know about eyewitness identification? *American Psychologist*, 48, 553-571.
- Wells, G. L., & Bradfield, A. L. (1998). "Good, you identified the suspect:" Feedback to eyewitnesses distorts their reports of the witnessing experience. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 83, 360-376.
- Wells, G. L., & Bradfield, A. L. (1999). Distortions in eyewitnesses' recollections: Can the postidentification-feedback effect be moderated? *Psychological Science*, 10, 138-144.
- Wells, G. L., Ferguson, T. J., & Lindsay, R. C. L. (1981). The tractability of eyewitness confidence and its implications for triers of fact. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 66, 688-696.
- Wells, G. L., Lindsay, R. C. L., & Ferguson, T. J. (1979). Accuracy, confidence, and juror perceptions in eyewitness identification. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 64, 440-448.
- Wells, G. L., Olson, E. A., & Charman, S. D. (2003). Distorted retrospective eyewitness reports as functions of feedback and delay. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Applied*, *9*, 42-52.
- Wells, G. L., & Quinlivan, D. S. (2009). Suggestive eyewitness identification procedures and the Supreme Court's reliability test in light of eyewitness science: 30 years later. *Law and Human Behavior*, *33*, 1-24.
- Wells, G. L., & Seelau, E. P. (1995). Eyewitness identification: Psychological research and legal policy on lineups. *Psychology, Public Policy, and Law, 4*, 765-791.
- White, M. (2004). Asbestos and the future of mass torts. *The Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 18, 183-204.

- Wickens, T. D. (1999). Measuring the time course of retention. In C. Izawa (Ed.), *On human memory: Evolution, progress, and reflections on the 30th anniversary of the Atkinson-Shiffrin model* (pp. 245-266). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Winningham, R. G., & Weaver, C. A., III. (2000). The effects of pressure to report more details on memories of an eyewitness event. *European Journal of Cognitive Psychology*, 12, 271-282.
- Wright, D. B., & Skagerberg, E. M. (2007). Postidentification feedback affects real eyewitnesses. *Psychological Science*, 18, 172-178.
- Wyckoff, J., & McBride, M. (2003). A primer for prospective "secondary and premises" asbestos defendants. *Environmental Claims Journal*, 15, 41-58.
- Yarmey, A. D. (2001). Expert testimony: Does eyewitness memory research have probative value for the courts? *Canadian Psychology*, 42, 92-100.
- Yuille, J. C., Davies, G., Gibling, F., Marxsen, D., & Porter, S. (1994). Eyewitness memory of police trainees for realistic role plays. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 6, 931-936.
- Zimbardo, P. G., & Leippe, M. R. (1991). *The psychology of attitude change and social influence*. New York: McGraw-Hill Book Company.